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PART I

This Form 10-K, including Management’s Discussiod &nalysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations in Part Il, Iltem 7 below, includes ford«ooking statements within the meaning of Sec@A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Sectiona2ilie Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendliéd
statements other than statements of historicas faatained in this Form 10-K, including statemeatgrding our
future financial position, business strategy arahpland objectives of management for future opaTstiare
forward-looking statements. The words “believe,"dyi “will,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,™intend,”
“should,” “plan,” “expect” and similar expressioras they relate to us, are intended to identifwéyd-looking
statements. We have based these forward-lookibgnséats largely on our current expectations angeptions
about future events and financial trends that wiewe may affect our financial condition, resulfsoperations,
business strategy and financial needs. These fdrAeaking statements are subject to a number k§ris
uncertainties and assumptions described in “Rigitdfg” in Part I, Item 1A below, and elsewherehist
Form 10-K, including, among other things: the fetgrowth of the small business and home marketedpf
adoption of wireless networking worldwide; our mess strategies and development plans; our suatessf
introduction of new products and technologies; fetoperating expenses and financing requirements; a
competition and competitive factors in the smaBiihess and home markets. In light of these risksetainties and
assumptions, the forward-looking events and cir¢antes discussed in this Form 10-K may not occdraatual
results could differ materially from those antidigd or implied in the forward-looking statementd. fArward-
looking statements in this Form 10-K are basechéorination available to us as of the date heredfia@ assume
no obligation to update any such forwdodking statements. The following discussion shdaddead in conjunctic
with our consolidated financial statements andait@mpanying notes contained in this Form 10-K.

ltem 1. Business
General

We design, develop and market networking produmtsiéme users and for small business, which wandefs
a business with fewer than 250 employees. We atgséal on satisfying the ease-of-use, quality, i,
performance and affordability requirements of thesers. Our product offerings enable users to arirared
communicate across local area networks and thedWgile Web and share Internet access, periphéitals,
digital multimedia content and applications amongtiple personal computers, or PCs, and other heteenabled
devices. We sell our products primarily throughabgl sales channel network, which includes tradai retailers,
online retailers, direct market resellers, or DMiRdue added resellers, or VARSs, and broadbandcgeproviders.
A discussion of factors potentially affecting oyoeoations is set forth in “Risk Factorsifider Part |, Iltem 1A of th
Form 10-K.

We were incorporated in Delaware on January 8, 1988 principal executive offices are located 2d@&rea
America Parkway, Santa Clara, California 95054, amdtelephone number at that location is (408)-8030. We
file reports, proxy statements and other infornratigth the Securities and Exchange Commission Fa2,Sn
accordance with the Securities Exchange Act of 1884mended, or the Exchange Act. You may readeoyl oul
reports, proxy statements and other informatiafiby us at the public reference room of the SEGtkd at
450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549 aB&=call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for furtherrinfttion
about the public reference rooms. Our filings dse available to the public over the Internet & 8EC’s website at
http://www.sec.goyand, as soon as practicable after such repa@tiled with the SEC, free of charge through a
hyperlink on our Internet website fattp://www.netgear.comnformation contained on the website is not a pért
this Form 10-K.

Markets

Our objective is to be the leading provider of inative networking products to the small busines$ leame
markets. A number of factors are driving todayicreasing demand for networking products wititimall businesse
and homes. As the number of computing devices, aadPCs, has increased in recent years, netwaksearg
deployed in order to share information and resaiezeong users and devices. This information aralires
sharing occurs internally, through a local areavoel, or LAN, or externally, via the Internet. Take
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advantage of complex applications, advanced comeation capabilities and rich multimedia contentrssare
upgrading their Internet connections by deployifghkspeed broadband access technologies. Usersesdkdhe
convenience and flexibility of operating their PGgtops and related computing devices in a moreileoor
wireless, manner. Finally, as the usage of netwanktuding the Internet, has increased, users baceme much
more focused on the security of their connectiordsthe protection of the data within their networks

Small business and home users demand a complaiéwieed and wireless networking and broadband
solutions that are tailored to their specific neadd budgets and also incorporate the latest nkimgptechnologies.
These users require the continual introductionesé and refined products. Small business and howes wdten lac
extensive IT resources and technical knowledgetlamefore demand ‘plug-and-play’ or easy-to-insaaltl use
solutions. These users seek reliable productgdiaaire little or no maintenance, and are suppdrieeffective
technical support and customer service. We belieatthese users also prefer the convenience afrohg a
networking solution from a single company with whtmy are familiar; as these users expand theivar&s, they
tend to be loyal purchasers of that brand. In &fdipurchasing decisions of users in the smalinass and home
markets are also driven by the affordability ofatking products. To provide reliable, easy-to-pseducts at an
attractive price, we believe a successful supptiest have a company-wide focus on the unique remegnts of
these markets and the operational discipline asttefficient company infrastructure and proceskasallow for
efficient product development, manufacturing arstribution.

Sales Channels

We sell our products through multiple sales chamalrldwide, including traditional retailers, ordimetailers,
wholesale distributors, DMRs, VARSs, and broadbasmtise providers.

Retailers. Our retail channel primarily supplies productattare sold into the home market. We sell direict)
or enter into consignment arrangements with, a rurabour traditional retailers. The remaining ttiethal retailers
as well as our online retailers, are fulfilled thgh wholesale distributors, the largest of whiah lagram Micro, Inc
and Tech Data Corporation. We work directly withr cetail channels on market development activisegsh as co-
advertising, in-store promotions and demonstratiorstant rebate programs, event sponsorship ded associate
training, as well as establishing “store withint@re” websites and banner advertising.

DMRs and VARs.We primarily sell into the small business martkebugh an extensive network of DMRs and
VARs. Our DMRs include companies such as CDW as@yht. VARs include our network of registered P ostit
Partners, or resellers who achieve prescribed giiyagales goals and as a result may receive salentives,
marketing support and other program benefits fremQur products are also resold by a large numb&mnaller
VARs whose sales are not large enough to qualéyntfor our Powershift Partner program. Our DMRs ¥AdRS
generally purchase our products through our whidediatributors, primarily Ingram Micro, Inc. angdh Data
Corporation.

Broadband Service ProvidersWe also supply our products directly to broadbsédvice providers in the
United States and internationally, who distribute products to their small business and home sildzsst

We derive the majority of our net revenue fromiingtional sales. International sales as a percerthget
revenue grew from 56% in 2005 to 62% in 2006. Salésurope, Middle-East and Africa, or EMEA, gresorh
$200.0 million in 2005 to $298.2 million in 200@&presenting an increase of approximately 49% duhagperiod.
We continue to penetrate new markets such as BEstern Europe, India, and the Middle-East. Bhéetbelow
sets forth our net revenue by major geographioregi

Year Ended December 31,

Percentagt Percentagt
2004 Change 2005 Change 2006
(In thousands, except percentage data)
United State! $186,83¢ 7% $199,20¢ 11% $220,44(
EMEA 159,61! 25%  199,95:. 49%  298,23:
Asia Pacific and rest of worl 36,68¢ 38% 50,45: 9% 54,89¢
Total $383,13¢ 17% $449,61( 28% $573,57(
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Revenues from significant customers as a percemtiager total revenues for the years ended Deceldber
2004, 2005 and 2006 were as follows:

Year Ended December 3.
2004 2005 2006

Ingram Micro, Inc. 2% 25% 19%
Tech Data Corporatio 18% 1%  16%
Product Offerings

Our product line consists of wired and wirelessickes' that enable Ethernet networking, broadbandssc@and
network connectivity. These products are availabl@ultiple configurations to address the needswfcustomers
in each geographic region in which our productssaitd.

Ethernet networking. Ethernet is the most commonly used wired netvpodtocol for connecting devices in
today’s home and small-office networks. Products &nable Ethernet networking include:

» switches, which are multiple port devices usedatwork PCs and periphera

* network interface cards, adapters and bridgesgthaitle PCs and other equipment to be connected to
network;

 peripheral servers, such as print servers that geapéanting on a network, and disk servers whicmaggz
shared disks on the network; &

« VPN firewalls, which provide secure remote netwackess and a-virus and an-spam capabilities

Broadband AccessBroadband is a transmission medium capable ofimgawnore information and at a higher
speed over public networks than traditional narrambfrequencies. Products that enable broadbamdsarclude:

« routers, which are used to connect two networksttogy, such as the home or office network andnteriet
« gateways, or routers with an integrated modemirf@rnet acces:

IP telephony products, used for transmitting vaiommunications over a network; a
* wireless gateways, or gateways that include amgiated wireless access poi
Network Connectivity. Products that enable network connectivity anduese sharing include:

« wireless access points, which provide a wirelagstietween a wired network and wireless devi

 wireless network interface cards and adapters,wémable devices to be connected to the network
wirelessly;

* media adapters, which connect PCs, stereos, TVsthed equipment to a netwol

« wi-fi phones, which enable users to make voice caks the Internet

« network attached storage, which enables file shaird remote storage over a local area network

. pc_n{verline adapters and bridges, which enable dst@ée connected to the network over existingtetsd
wiring.

We design our products to meet the specific neétisth the small business and home markets, tagori
various elements of the product design, includimggonent specification, physical characteristiahsas casing,
design and coloration, and specific user interfaaéures to meet the needs of these markets. Weéealsrage man
of our technological developments, high volume nfiacturring, technical support and engineering irtfrasture
across our markets to maximize business efficisncie
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Our products that target the small business manieetiesigned with an industrial appearance, inctudietal
cases, and for some product categories, the atulityount the product within standard data netwagkiacks. Thes
products typically include higher port counts, léghata transfer rates and other performance desistcs
designed to meet the needs of a small businessk@eexample, we offer data transfer rates ugmoGigabit per
second for our business products to meet the hicgqeacity requirements of business users. Sonteeeétproducts
are also designed to support transmission modésasifiber optic cabling, which is common in mooplsisticated
business environments. Security requirements wighinproducts for small business broadband acoessdie
firewall and virtual private network capabilitidsat allow for secure interactions between remdiees and
business headquarter locations. Our connectivitgdyet offerings for the small business market idelenhanced
security and remote configurability often requinec business setting.

Our products for the home user are designed wihgihg visual and physical aesthetics that are aesiable
in a home environment. For example, our RangeMegsef routers have distinctive blue antenna-iattic LEDs
in a circular dome atop a sleek white plastic aasur connectivity offerings for use in the honne generally at a
lower price than higher security and configurapilitireless offerings for the small business markeir products
for facilitating broadband access in the home gedlable with features such as parental controhbdjies and
firewall security, to allow for safer, more contea Internet usage in families with children. Owddband produc
designed for the home market also contain advaimstallation software that guides a less sophisttaata
networking user through the installation proceghwheir broadband service provider, using a gregdhiser
interface and simple point and click operationst Gannectivity product offerings for the home inddupowerline
data transmission modes which allow home userski® advantage of their existing electrical wirinfastructure
for transmitting data among network components.

Competition

The small business and home networking marketsggesely competitive and subject to rapid techgiaial
change. We expect competition to continue to infgn®ur principal competitors include:

« within the small business networking market, conigasuch as 3Com, Allied Telesyn, the Linksys divis
of Cisco Systems, Dell Computer-Link, Hewlet-Packard, Nortel Networks, and SonicWall, Inc.; .

 within the home networking market, companies suBealkin Corporation, D-Link, and the Linksys dieis
of Cisco System:

Other current competitors include numerous localbees such as Siemens Corporation and AVM in Eyrope
Corega International SA and Melco, Inc./Buffalo firology in Japan and TP-Link in China, and broadban
equipment suppliers such as ARRIS Group, Inc., k& Inc., Sagem Corporation, Scientific AtlardaCisco
company, Terayon Communications Systems, Inc., BeonCorporation and 2Wire, Inc. Our potential cotitpes
include consumer electronics vendors and teleconwations equipment vendors who could integrate ngting
capabilities into their line of products, and obaonel customers who may decide to offer self-ledntkbtworking
products. We also face competition from serviceviglers who may bundle a free networking device \thisr
broadband service offering, which would reducesales if we are not the supplier of choice to trae®ice
providers.

Many of our existing and potential competitors horger operating histories, greater name recagmaind
substantially greater financial, technical, satearketing and other resources. As a result, theymse more
advanced technology, larger distribution chanrsgtenger brand names, better customer service @ebsito more
customers than we do. For example, Dell Computsisignificant brand name recognition and has aeriding
presence substantially greater than ours. Simjl&@isco Systems is well recognized as a leaderawiging
networking solutions to businesses and has suletamjreater financial resources than we do. Savefrour
competitors, such as the Linksys division of CiSggstems and D-Link, offer a range of products thiactly
compete with most of our product offerings. Sevefalur other competitors primarily compete in arentimited
manner. For example, Hewlett-Packard sells netwgrkroducts primarily targeted at larger businesses
enterprises. However, the competitive environmentliich we operate changes rapidly. Other largepaonies witt
significant resources could become direct compsatitither through acquiring a competitor or thitwirgernal
efforts.
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We believe that the principal competitive factarghie small business and home markets for netwgrkin
products include product breadth, size and scopleeo$ales channel, brand name, timeliness of medupt
introductions, product performance, features, flomatity and reliability, price, ease-of-installati, maintenance
and use, and customer service and support.

To remain competitive, we believe we must inveghiicant resources in developing new productsaecing
our current products, expanding our sales charmmglsnaintaining customer satisfaction worldwide.

Research and Development

As of December 31, 2006, we had 62 employees edgagesearch and development. We believe that our
success depends on our ability to develop prodhatsmeet the changing user needs and to anticipate
proactively respond to evolving technology in agiynand cost-effective manner. Accordingly, we henede
investments in our research and development depattim order to effectively evaluate new technadsgand
develop and test new products. Our research arel@@ment employees work closely with our technolagy
manufacturing partners to bring our products tokagin a timely, high quality and cost-efficient nmeer.

We identify and qualify new technologies, and weakwdosely with our various technology suppliersian
manufacturing partners to develop products usirgairthe two manufacturing methodologies descrisdw.

ODM. Under the original design manufacturer, or ODMtmodology, which we use for most of our product
development activities, we define the product cphemd specification and perform the technologga@n. We
then coordinate with our technology suppliers whiiley develop the chipsets, software and detaikedit designs.
Once prototypes are completed, we work with outrzais to complete the debugging and systems irttegrand
testing. Our ODMs are responsible for conductingfthe regulatory agency approval processes reddor each
product. After completion of the final tests, aggapprovals and product documentation, the progueleased for
production.

OEM. Under the original equipment manufacturer, or QEMthodology, which we use for a limited number
of products, we define the product specificatiod #ren purchase the product from OEM supplierstiaae
existing products fitting our design requiremef@sace a technology supplier’s product is selectesywark with the
OEM supplier to complete the cosmetic changed fatfh our mechanical and packaging design, as agetur
documentation and graphical user interface, or Gtalhdard. The OEM supplier completes regulatopr@mls on
our behalf. When all design verification and regpig testing is completed, the product is reledsegroduction.

Our internal research and development efforts f@cusnproving the reliability, functionality, coand
performance of our partner's designs. In additiwa define the industrial design, GUI, documentatod
installation process of our products. In August&08e acquired SkipJam Corp. (“SkipJam”), a devetad
networkable media devices for integrating televidito the home network and to the Internet foegatnment
content streaming. Our total research and developmeenses were $18.4 million in 2006, $12.8 onillin 2005
and $10.3 million in 2004.

Manufacturing

Our primary manufacturers are ASUSTek Computer, @ameo Communications Inc., Delta Networks
Incorporated, Gemtek Technology Co., Hon Hai Prexitndustry Co., Ltd. (more commonly known as Faxc
Corporation), and SerComm Corporation, all of whach headquartered in Taiwan. The actual manufagtof our
products occurs primarily in mainland China, andupplemented with manufacturing in Taiwan on acdbasis.
We distribute our manufacturing among these keypkens to avoid excessive concentration with alsisgipplier.
In addition to their responsibility for the manufiaiing of our products, our manufacturers purchabseecessary
parts and materials to produce complete, finisteatlg. To maintain quality standards for our suppliee have
established our own product testing and qualityapization based in Hong Kong and mainland ChinayTdre
responsible for auditing and inspecting productigguan the premises of our ODMs and OEMs.

We currently outsource warehousing and distribukbggistics to four third-party providers who arspensible
for warehousing, distribution logistics and ordalfiiment. In addition, these parties are alsg@ssible for
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some re-packaging of our products including burgdiomponents to form kits, inserting appropriateusnentation
and adding power adapters. APL Logistics Amerit#s, in City of Industry, California serves the Ari@s region,
Kerry Logistics Ltd. in Hong Kong serves the AsicPic region, and Furness Logistics BV and Modu&lBYV in
the Netherlands serve the EMEA region.

Sales and Marketing

As of December 31, 2006, we had 187 employees edgagsales and marketing. We work directly with ou
customers on market development activities, suctoamdvertising, in-store promotions and demonistnat instant
rebate programs, event sponsorship and sales astieiining. We also participate in major industade shows
and marketing events. Our marketing departmendnspeised of our product marketing and corporateketang
groups.

Our product marketing group focuses on productesysg product development roadmaps, the new product
introduction process, product lifecycle managemeéamand assessment and competitive analysis. D grorks
closely with our sales and research and developgrenps to align our product development roadmapédet
customer technology demands from a strategic petispe The group also ensures that product devedopm
activities, product launches, channel marketingym activities, and ongoing demand and supplyrnitenoccur it
a well-managed, timely basis in coordination withr development, manufacturing, and sales groupsetisas our
ODM, OEM and sales channel partners.

Our corporate marketing group is responsible fdiniey and building our corporate brand. The gréoquses
on defining our mission, brand promise and markgetiressages on a worldwide basis. This group alfsoedethe
marketing approaches in the areas of advertisinlgliprelations, events, channel programs and @lr delivery
mechanisms. These marketing messages and appr@aehasstomized for both the small business andehom
markets through a variety of delivery mechanisnsgied to effectively reach end-users in a costiefft manner.

We conduct much of our international sales and etarl operations through NETGEAR International,. lauac
NETGEAR International Ltd., our whol-owned subsidiaries which have formed sales an#tetiag subsidiaries
and branch offices worldwide.

Technical Support

We provide technical support to our customers thhoas combination of limited number of permanent
employees and extensive use of subcontracted,smureing”’resources. Although we design our products to rex
minimal technical support, if a customer requirssistance, we generally provide free, high-quadighnical advice
worldwide over the phone and Internet for a spedifieriod of time, generally less than one year cWeently
subcontract first level and the majority of sectawkl technical support for our products and aBeéember 31,
2006, we were utilizing approximately 720 part-tiare full-time individuals to answer customers’heical
guestions. First level technical support represémdirst team member a customer will reach witlkstions; and,
typically, these individuals are able to answettirmitechnical questions. If they are unable tolkesthe issue, the
first level support member will forward the custarte our more highly trained second level suppooug. The
most difficult or unique questions are forwardedN®BTGEAR employees. This 20 person in-house staffigdes
the most sophisticated support when customer iggagsre escalation.

In addition to providing third level technical sugrp these internal NETGEAR employees design othiriial
support database and are responsible for traimidgraanaging our outsourced sub-contractors. Wiezaitihe
information gained from customers by our techngtgdport organization to enhance our current angdyproducts
by providing bug fixes, simplifying the installatigprocess and planning future product needs.

In North America, the United Kingdom, South Easta®and Australia, the first and second level tecahi
support in English is provided 24 hours a day, ysdaweek, 365 days a year. Local language supalto
available during local business hours in Austriait&rland, China, France, Germany, Italy, Japaoreld, Spain,
Thailand, Brazil, Hungary, Russia, the Nordic coiest Belgium and the Netherlands.
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Intellectual Property

We believe that our continued success will depeimdgrily on the technical expertise, speed of tethagy
implementation, creative skills and managementtegsilof our officers and key employees, plus owhgr of a
limited but important set of copyrights, trademarkade secrets and patents. We primarily rely oarabination of
copyright, trademark and trade secret and paters, laondisclosure agreements with employees, camésland
suppliers and other contractual provisions to distabmaintain and protect our proprietary rigiiée hold two
issued patents that expire between years 2023@2fsi@hd currently have a number of pending UnitateS patent
applications related to technology and productsreff by us. In addition, we rely on third-partyelicors for
patented hardware and software license rightscimtglogy that are incorporated into and are necgd$sathe
operation and functionality of our products. Weitglly retain limited exclusivity over intellectuploperty we
jointly develop with our OEMs and ODMs. Our succedisdepend in part on our continued ability tovBaaccess
these technologies.

We have trade secret rights for our products, atingi mainly of product design, technical product
documentation and software. We also own, or hapéeapfor registration of trademarks, in connectwith our
products, including NETGEAR, the NETGEAR logo, HETGEAR Digital Entertainer logo, the Gear Guy lpgo
Connect with Innovation, Everybody’s connectingglliFi, ProSafe, RangeMax and Smart Wizard, intméted
States and internationally. We have registeredraéirgernet domain names that we use for eleatroméraction
with our customers including dissemination of prodaformation, marketing programs, product regittm, sales
activities, and other commercial uses.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006, we had 388 full-time emeés, with 207 in sales, marketing and technicppett,
62 in research and development, 53 in operatiors 68 in finance, information systems and admiat&in. We
also utilize a number of temporary staff, includitfgfull-time contractors, to supplement our workfa We have
never had a work stoppage among our employees@pdrmonnel are represented under collective bargai
agreements. We consider our relations with our eygas to be good.

Website Posting of SEC Filings

Our website provides a link to our SEC filings, alihiare available on the same day such filings a@emThe
specific location on the website where these repmah be found is http://www.investor.netgear.calgée.cfm.
Our website also provides a link to Section liids which are available on the same day as sliogs are made.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth the names, agespasitions of our executive officers (who are subjec
Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 19840f March 1, 2007.

Name Age Position

Patrick C.S. Lc 50 Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

Mark G. Merrill 52 Chief Technology Office

Michael F. Falcot 50 Senior Vice President of Operatic

Christine M. Gorjant 50 Chief Accounting Officel

Albert Y. Liu 34 Vice President, Legal and Corporate Developn

Charles T. Olsol 51 Senior Vice President of Engineeri

David Soare: 40 Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sales and Sug

Michael A. Werdanr 38 Vice President of Americas Sal

Deborah A. Williams 49 Senior Vice President, Marketing and Chief Markgtin
Officer
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Patrick C.S. Ldas served as our Chairman and Chief Executive&ffiince March 2002. From September
1999 to March 2002, he served as our Presidentsiacd our inception in 1996 to September 199%emeed as
Vice President and General Manager. Mr. Lo joineg Bletworks, a networking company, in August 1995 t
launch a division targeting the small businesstzorde markets and established the NETGEAR divisiakahuary
1996. From 1983 until 1995, Mr. Lo worked at Hewleackard Company, a computer and test equipmenpany,
where he served in various management positioesfiware sales, technical support, network produaagemen
sales support and marketing in the United Statds®@i, including as the Asia/Pacific marketingegior for Unix
servers. Mr. Lo received a B.S. degree in Eledtiraineering from Brown University.

Mark G. Merrill has served as our Chief Technology Officer sincidey 2003. From September 1999 to
January 2003, he served as Vice President of Eegimeand served as Director of Engineering frompt&aber
1995 to September 1999. From 1987 to 1995, Mr. Marorked at SynOptics Communications, a localaare
networking company, which later merged with Webti¢o become Bay Networks, where his responsisliti
included system design and analog implementati@nSynOptic’s first LOBASE-T products. Mr. Mernikceived
both a B.S. degree and an M.S. degree in Electiogineering from Stanford University.

Michael F. Falcorhas served as our Senior Vice President of Opasaiimce March 2006 and Vice President
of Operations since November 2002. From Septen@@9 1o November 2002, Mr. Falcon worked at Quantum
Corporation, a data technology company, where heedeas Vice President of Operations and SupplyjirCha
Management. From April 1999 to September 1999,Mdfcon was at Meridian Data, a storage companyieat)by
Quantum Corporation, where he served as Vice Rrasuf Operations. From February 1989 to April 1,999
Mr. Falcon was at Silicon Valley Group, a semicattdu equipment manufacturer, where he served ascioir of
Operations, Strategic Planning and Supply Chainddament. Prior to that, he served in managemeittgesat
SCI Systems, an electronics manufacturer, XeroxgingaSystems, a provider of scanning and text eition
solutions, and Plantronics, Inc., a provider ofitigeight communication headsets. Mr. Falcon receav8.A.
degree in Economics from the University of CalifesrSanta Cruz and has completed coursework iivitBeA.
program at Santa Clara University.

Christine M. Gorjandas served as our Chief Accounting Officer sinceddgber 2006 and our Vice President,
Finance since November 2005. From September 1966gh November 2005, Ms. Gorjanc served as Vice
President, Controller, Treasurer and Assistantedar for Aspect Communications Corporation, a ffewvof
workforce and customer management solutions. Frotol@r 1988 through September 1996, she servétkas t
Manager of Tax for Tandem Computers, Inc., a prevaf fault-tolerant computer systems. Prior td,tkhe served
in management positions at Xidex Corporation, aufecturer of storage devices, and spent eight yingrsblic
accounting with a number of accounting firms. Msrj@nc holds a B.A. in Accounting (with honors)rftdhe
University of Texas at El Paso, a M.S. in Taxafiam Golden Gate University, and is a Certified Rub
Accountant.

Albert Y. Liuhas served as our Vice President, Legal and CamBravelopment and Corporate Secretary <
March 2006 and our General Counsel and Secretacg €dctober 2004. From March 2004 to October 2004Liu
consulted as Acting General Counsel and Secretaryipes Enterprise Services, Inc., an emergingctah service
company. From May 2000 to June 2004, Mr. Liu workédurnstone Systems, Inc., a telecommunications
equipment provider, where he served as General $&band Secretary, as Director of Human Resouines s
September 2001 and as a member of the board etalisesince November 2003. Prior to that, Mr. Liagticed
corporate and securities law at Sullivan & Cromwelleading U.S. law firm, from October 1997 to M2g00.

Mr. Liu holds a J.D. from the University of Califia, Hastings College of the Law, and an A.B. ititRal Science
and a B.S. in Computer Science from Stanford Usiter

Charles T. Olsomas served as our Senior Vice President of Engimgsince March 2006 and our Vice
President of Engineering since January 2003. Frdynld78 to January 2003, Mr. Olson worked at Héwle
Packard Company, a computer and test equipmentammynphere he served as Director of Research and
Development for ProCurve networking from 1998 t@20as Research and Development Manager for trerifisse
Netserver division from 1997 to 1998, and, priothat, in various other engineering managemensriolélewlet-
Packard’s Unix server and personal computer prodivigions. Mr. Olson received a B.S. degree irciieal
Engineering from the University of California, Davand an M.B.A. from Santa Clara University.
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David Soaredas served as our Senior Vice President of Worldvidles and Support since August 2004. Mr. Soares
joined us in January 1998, and served as Vice diyesdf EMEA sales from December 2003 to July 2BEMEA Managing
Director from April 2000 to November 2003, Uniteéhgdom and Nordic Regional Manager from Februar§al® March
2000 and United Kingdom Country Manager from Japd&98 to January 1999. Prior to joining us, Mraf&s was at
Hayes Microcomputer Products, a manufacturer dfuflanodems. Mr. Soares attended Ridley Collegea@mCanada.

Michael A. Werdanhas served as our Vice President of Americas Sales December 2003. Since joining us in 1998,
Mr. Werdann has served as our United States DireftSales, E-Commerce and DMR from December 26003 and as
our Eastern regional sales director from Octob&81® December 2002. Prior to joining us, Mr. Wendavorked for three
years at lomega Corporation, a computer hardwareaay, as a sales director for the value addedleesector.

Mr. Werdann holds a B.S. Degree in CommunicatioosifSeton Hall University.

Deborah A. Williamsas served as our Senior Vice President, MarkatimtgChief Marketing Officer since September
2006. From 1984 through 2005, Ms. Williams workétHawlett-Packard Company, a computer and tesipeuemnt
company, where she held various executive-levekatany positions, most recently as Vice PresidéMarketing for the
Business Imaging and Printing Global Business Wg. Williams previously served as Vice Presidentarketing of the
LaserJet Supplies Division, Vice President of Catg@perations and Marketing of the Supplies Gldhainess Unit,
Director of Marketing of the DeskJet Printers Diwgig Director of Consumer Marketing of the Europ@amipherals Group,
and Director of Support of the European ComputedBcts Sales Unit. Ms. Williams holds a B.A. in listrial Distribution
from Clarkson University, and an M.B.A. from thé.JKellogg Graduate School of Management.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degferisk. The risks described below are not extiaei®f the risks
that might affect our business. Other risks, inalgdthose we currently deem immaterial, may alggaich our business. At
of the following risks could materially adverseffeat our business operations, results of operatiand financial condition
and could result in a significant decline in ouosk price.

We expect our operating results to fluctuate on aagterly and annual basis, which could cause oupsk price to
fluctuate or decline.

Our operating results are difficult to predict andy fluctuate substantially from quarter-to-quadeyear-to-year for a
variety of reasons, many of which are beyond outrod. If our actual revenue were to fall below @stimates or the
expectations of public market analysts or investous quarterly and annual results would be neghtiimpacted and the
price of our stock could decline. Other factord twuld affect our quarterly and annual operatigyits include those listed
in this risk factors section of this Form 10-K asttiers such as:

» changes in the pricing policies of or the introdmetof new products by us or our competitc

» changes in the terms of our contracts with custeroesuppliers that cause us to incur additionpeeses or assume
additional liabilities;

* slow or negative growth in the networking prody&rsonal computer, Internet infrastructure, horeetebnics and
related technology markets, as well as decreasmdnie for Internet acces

» changes in or consolidation of our sales chanmalsrholesale distributor relationships or failusentanage our sales
channel inventory and warehousing requireme

« delay or failure to fulfill orders for our produat® a timely basis
* our inability to accurately forecast product demge
» unfavorable level of inventory and tur

» unanticipated shift in overall product mix from héy to lower margin products which would adversgipact our
margins;
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« delays in the introduction of new products by usnarket acceptance of these produ

e an increase in price protection claims, redemptafmearketing rebates, product warranty returns or
allowance for doubtful account

« operational disruptions, such as transportatioaydedr failure of our order processing system iadrly if
they occur at the end of a fiscal quar

« seasonal patterns of higher sales during the sdwalhdf our fiscal year, particularly retail-redat sales in
our fourth quarter

« delay or failure of our service provider customergurchase at the volumes that we forec

- foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations injthisdictions where we transact sales in local ency;
« bad debt exposure as we expand into new interratioarkets; an

« changes in accounting rules, such as recordingnegsefor employee stock option grai

As a result, period-to-period comparisons of owgrating results may not be meaningful, and you khoot
rely on them as an indication of our future perfance. In addition, our future operating results ifadlybelow the
expectations of public market analysts or investiorshis event, our stock price could decline gigantly.

Some of our competitors have substantially greatesources than we do, and to be competitive we by
required to lower our prices or increase our advisimg expenditures or other expenses, which coutgult in
reduced margins and loss of market share.

We compete in a rapidly evolving and highly comipeti market, and we expect competition to intenstyr
principal competitors in the small business maikelude 3Com Corporation, Allied Telesyn Internagd Dell
Computer Corporation, D-Link Systems, Inc., Hewlegickard Company, the Linksys division of Cisco 8y ani
Nortel Networks. Our principal competitors in thente market include Belkin Corporation-Link and the Linksys
division of Cisco Systems. Our principal compestor the broadband service provider market inclNARIS
Group, Inc., Motorola, Inc., Sagem Corporatione8tific Atlanta, a Cisco company, Terayon Commutiices
Systems, Inc., Thomson Corporation and 2Wire, @tber current and potential competitors include arous local
vendors such as Siemens Corporation and AVM in i@ir€orega International SA, Melco, Inc./Buffalo
Technology in Japan and TP-Link in China. Our ptig&icompetitors also include consumer electrom@@sdors
who could integrate networking capabilities inteitHine of products, and our channel customers mhy decide t
offer self-branded networking products. We alse@faompetition from service providers who may buradfece
networking device with their broadband service iffg, which would reduce our sales if we are netshpplier of
choice to those service providers.

Many of our existing and potential competitors horger operating histories, greater name recagmaind
substantially greater financial, technical, satearketing and other resources. These competitoys amaong other
things, undertake more extensive marketing camgaigiopt more aggressive pricing policies, obtadnem
favorable pricing from suppliers and manufacturars] exert more influence on the sales channelwracan. We
anticipate that current and potential competitoitsadso intensify their efforts to penetrate oardet markets. These
competitors may have more advanced technology, exdensive distribution channels, stronger brandes
greater access to shelf space in retail locatioigger promotional budgets and larger customerstsmn we do.
These companies could devote more capital resotoasvelop, manufacture and market competing prisdihan
we could. If any of these companies are succebsfidmpeting against us, our sales could declinenwargins
could be negatively impacted, and we could loseetashare, any of which could seriously harm ougitess and
results of operations.

If we do not effectively manage our sales channaténtory and product mix, we may incur costs assted
with excess inventory, or lose sales from having few products.

If we are unable to properly monitor, control andnage our sales channel inventory and maintain an
appropriate level and mix of products with our wadsale distributors and within our sales channelmag incur
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increased and unexpected costs associated witmteistory. We generally allow wholesale distrilnstand
traditional retailers to return a limited amountoofr products in exchange for other products. Undermprice
protection policy, if we reduce the list price op@duct, we are often required to issue a credini amount equal
the reduction for each of the products held in irtwey by our wholesale distributors and retailérsur wholesale
distributors and retailers are unable to sell threientory in a timely manner, we might lower thrécp of the
products, or these parties may exchange the pradmchewer products. Also, during the transiticoni an existing
product to a new replacement product, we must atelyrpredict the demand for the existing and e product.

If we improperly forecast demand for our producesaeuld end up with too many products and be urtable
sell the excess inventory in a timely manner, #lgtor, alternatively we could end up with toevfproducts and not
be able to satisfy demand. This problem is exateddaecause we attempt to closely match inventongl$ with
product demand leaving limited margin for errorthiése events occur, we could incur increased egsesssociate
with writing off excessive or obsolete inventorylose sales or have to ship products by air freigimeet
immediate demand incurring incremental freight s@diove the costs of transporting product via kateferred
method, and suffering a corresponding decline asgmargins.

We are currently involved in various litigation migrs and may in the future become involved in adufial
litigation, including litigation regarding intelle¢ual property rights, which could be costly and gabt us to
significant liability.

The networking industry is characterized by thes&xice of a large number of patents and frequairhsland
related litigation regarding infringement of pateritade secrets and other intellectual propegtytsi In particular,
leading companies in the data communications markeme of which are competitors, have extensitenpa
portfolios with respect to networking technologyofa time to time, third parties, including thesading
companies, have asserted and may continue to asstusive patent, copyright, trademark and othtslliectual
property rights against us demanding license caltpypayments or seeking payment for damages, dtixmrelief
and other available legal remedies through lit@atiThese include third parties who claim to owtepts or other
intellectual property that cover industry standards our products comply with. If we are unabledsolve these
matters or obtain licenses on acceptable or conmiallgroeasonable terms, we could be sued or we Inesfprced to
initiate litigation to protect our rights. The cadtany necessary licenses could significantly hatmbusiness,
operating results and financial condition. Alsoaay time, any of these companies, or any othed-{hérty could
initiate litigation against us, or we may be fordednitiate litigation against them, which couliyert management
attention, be costly to defend or prosecute, preusifirom using or selling the challenged techngjagquire us to
design around the challenged technology and céwesprice of our stock to decline. In addition, dhirarties, some
of whom are potential competitors, have initiated anay continue to initiate litigation against enanufacturers,
suppliers or members of our sales channel, alleigiingpgement of their proprietary rights with resg to existing c
future products. In the event successful claimsfoingement are brought by third parties, and weunable to
obtain licenses or independently develop altereatdechnology on a timely basis, we may be subgect t
indemnification obligations, be unable to offer qmetitive products, or be subject to increased esgenFinally,
consumer class-actidawsuits related to the marketing and performariaGaiohome networking products have b
asserted and may in the future be asserted againgtwe do not resolve these claims on a faverabkis, our
business, operating results and financial conditimund be significantly harmed.

The average selling prices of our products typigatlecrease rapidly over the sales cycle of the podwhich
may negatively affect our gross margins.

Our products typically experience price erosiofgidy rapid reduction in the average selling psicer their
respective sales cycles. In order to sell prodiinetshave a falling average selling price and na@ntargins at the
same time, we need to continually reduce produgtraanufacturing costs. To manage manufacturingscos mus
collaborate with our third-party manufacturers ngi@eer the most cost-effective design for our potsl In
addition, we must carefully manage the price paiccbmponents used in our products. We must alscessfully
manage our freight and inventory costs to reduegalvproduct costs. We also need to continualisoatuce new
products with higher sales prices and gross maigiosder to maintain our overall gross marginsvéf are unable
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to manage the cost of older products or succegshthoduce new products with higher gross margis,net
revenue and overall gross margin would likely dezli

Our future success is dependent on the growth imgmmal computers sales and the acceptance of nekivay
products in the small business and home market®inthich we sell substantially all of our products.the
acceptance of networking products in these markat®&s not continue to grow, we will be unable toriease or
sustain our net revenue, and our business will leerely harmed.

We believe that growth in the small business mankitdepend, in significant part, on the growthtbé
number of personal computers purchased by theseserd and the demand for sharing data intensipkcagions,
such as large graphic files. We believe that aeoegat of networking products in the home will depepdn the
availability of affordable broadband Internet accard increased demand for wireless products. Bilese
markets continue to grow, our business will be lm&bexpand, which could cause the value of aulsto decline
Moreover, if networking functions are integratedrendirectly into personal computers and other heeenabled
devices, such as electronic gaming platforms osqreal video recorders, and these devices do notipein externe
network-enabling devices, sales of our productdccsuffer. In addition, if the small business om®markets
experience a recession or other cyclical effeasdiminish or delay networking expenditures, ousibess growth
and profits would be severely limited, and our bass could be more severely harmed than those coespthat
primarily sell to large business customers.

If we fail to continue to introduce new productsdhachieve broad market acceptance on a timely basie will
not be able to compete effectively and we will Imable to increase or maintain net revenue and grosargins.

We operate in a highly competitive, quickly chamgenvironment, and our future success dependsion ou
ability to develop and introduce new products #dtieve broad market acceptance in the small besizied home
markets. Our future success will depend in largé ygaon our ability to identify demand trends ie ttmall business
and home markets and quickly develop, manufactudesell products that satisfy these demands irstaftective
manner. Successfully predicting demand trenddffiguli, and it is very difficult to predict the ffct introducing a
new product will have on existing product sales. Wilkalso need to respond effectively to new proidu
announcements by our competitors by quickly intadalg competitive products.

We have experienced delays in releasing new predathe past, which resulted in lower quarterlyneeenue
than expected. In addition, we have experiencedi naay in the future experience, product introduddithat fall
short of our projected rates of market adoptiony Arture delays in product development and intraiducor
product introductions that do not meet broad maaskeeptance could result in:

« loss of or delay in revenue and loss of marketes|
* negative publicity and damage to our reputation lanachd;
< adecline in the average selling price of our pobsit

« adverse reactions in our sales channel, such asaddhelf space, reduced online product visibitityloss
of sales channel; ar

« increased levels of product retur

We depend substantially on our sales channel, and failure to maintain and expand our sales channefould
result in lower sales and reduced net revenue.

To maintain and grow our market share, net revemgebrand, we must maintain and expand our sakrmeth
We sell our products through our sales channelghvbonsists of traditional retailers, on-line rkties, DMRs,
VARs, and broadband service providers. Some oktkasities purchase our products through our wiatdes
distributors. We generally have no minimum purchamamitments or long-term contracts with any osthéhird
parties.
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Traditional retailers have limited shelf space angimotional budgets, and competition is intenseliese
resources. If the networking sector does not egpes sufficient growth, retailers may choose tocate more shelf
space to other consumer product sectors. A coropetith more extensive product lines and strongand identity
such as Cisco Systems, may have greater bargaioingr with these retailers. Any reduction in avaldashelf
space or increased competition for such shelf spacgd require us to increase our marketing exgengs simply
to maintain current levels of retail shelf spachjcli would harm our operating margin. The recesndrin the
consolidation of online retailers and DMR chanrels resulted in intensified competition for prederproduct
placement, such as product placement on an ordilaéar’s Internet home page. Expanding our presémthe
VAR channel may be difficult and expensive. We cetepwith established companies that have longaatipg
histories and longstanding relationships with VARt we would find highly desirable as sales chapagners. If
we were unable to maintain and expand our salasnethaour growth would be limited and our businessild be
harmed.

We must also continuously monitor and evaluate gingrsales channels. If we fail to establish agmes in a
important developing sales channel, our busineskidme harmed.

If we fail to successfully overcome the challengessociated with profitably growing our broadbandreiee
provider sales channel, our net revenue and grossfip will be negatively impacted.

We face a number of challenges associated withtgsimgy the broadband service provider channeldrfegr
from what we have traditionally faced with the atbkannels. These challenges include a longer sgtds, more
stringent product testing and validation requireteea higher level of customer service and suppemands,
competition from established suppliers, pricingsstee resulting in lower gross margins, and ouegsn
inexperience in selling to service providers. Osdeom service providers generally tend to be ldngesporadic,
which causes our revenues from them to fluctuakdiyvand challenges our ability to accurately fastcdemand
from them. Even if we are selected as a supplipically a service provider will also designateea@nd source
supplier, which over time will reduce the aggregaiders that we receive from that service provitteaddition,
service providers may choose to prioritize the enpéntation of other technologies or the roll oubtbfer services
than home networking. Any slowdown in the genecalrmmy, over capacity, consolidation among service
providers, regulatory developments and constraintapital expenditures could result in reduced dehisom
service providers and therefore adversely affectales to them. If we do not successfully overctimse
challenges, we will not be able to profitably grour service provider sales channel and our groviitbe slowed.

If our products contain defects or errors, we coulttur significant unexpected expenses, experiepceduct
returns and lost sales, experience product recadigffer damage to our brand and reputation, and sgbject to
product liability or other claims.

Our products are complex and may contain defentstseor failures, particularly when first introdect or when
new versions are released. The industry standgmis which many of our products are based are aispieX,
experience change over time and may be interpietdififerent manners. Some errors and defects neay b
discovered only after a product has been instalfetlused by the end-user. If our products contafeats or errors,
or are found to be noncompliant with industry staad, we could experience decreased sales an@déect@roduct
returns, loss of customers and market share, amdared service, warranty and insurance costslditi@n, our
reputation and brand could be damaged, and we ¢acédlegal claims regarding our products. A susitéproduct
liability or other claim could result in negativalgicity and harm our reputation, result in unexpdexpenses and
adversely impact our operating results.

We obtain several key components from limited olessources, and if these sources fail to satisfy supply
requirements, we may lose sales and experiencedased component costs.

Any shortage or delay in the supply of key prodiarhponents would harm our ability to meet scheduled
product deliveries. Many of the semiconductors urealir products are specifically designed for imseur product:
and are obtained from sole source suppliers onéhpee order basis. In addition, some componeatstle used in
all our products are obtained from limited sourddswese components include connector jacks, plaasings and
physical layer transceivers. We also obtain switgHabric semiconductors, which are used in our
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Ethernet switches and Internet gateway productsyareless local area network chipsets, which aetin all of
our wireless products, from a limited number ofdigrs. Semiconductor suppliers have experiencedcantinue t
experience component shortages themselves, sweithasubstrates used in manufacturing chipsetschvim turn
adversely impact our ability to procure semicondtefrom them. Our contract manufacturers purclizasse
components on our behalf on a purchase order lzagiswe do not have any contractual commitmentgiaranteed
supply arrangements with our suppliers. If demamdafspecific component increases, we may not leetalmbtain
an adequate number of that component in a timelynaa In addition, if our suppliers experience ficial or other
difficulties or if worldwide demand for the companis they provide increases significantly, the alality of these
components could be limited. It could be difficdgstly and time consuming to obtain alternativerses for these
components, or to change product designs to makefusternative components. In addition, diffigestin
transitioning from an existing supplier to a newplier could create delays in component availgbitiat would
have a significant impact on our ability to fulidtders for our products. If we are unable to ab#asufficient suppl
of components, or if we experience any interruptiothe supply of components, our product shipmeatdd be
reduced or delayed. This would affect our abilityrieet scheduled product deliveries, damage oadbaad
reputation in the market, and cause us to lose @hatare.

We are exposed to adverse currency exchange ratedhtions in jurisdictions where we transact indel
currency, which could harm our financial results ahcash flows.

Although a significant portion of our internatiorsales are currently invoiced in United Statesais]lwe have
implemented and continue to implement for certainntries both invoicing and payment in foreign eaaies.
Recently, we have experienced currency exchanges gabwever our exposure to adverse foreign cuyreate
fluctuations will likely increase. We currently dot engage in any currency hedging transactionseMer, the
costs of doing business abroad may increase asith of adverse exchange rate fluctuations. Fomgie, if the
United States dollar declined in value relativatocal currency, we could be required to pay niorgd.S. dollar
terms for our expenditures in that market, inclgdsalaries, commissions, local operations and niagkexpenses,
each of which is paid in local currency. In additisve may lose customers if exchange rate fluanaticurrency
devaluations or economic crises increase the maaéncy prices of our products or reduce our gusts’ ability to
purchase products.

Rising oil prices, unfavorable economic conditiongarticularly in Western Europe, and turmoil in the
international geopolitical environment may advergedffect our operating results.

We derive a significant percentage of our reverfit@a international sales, and a deterioration obgl
economic and market conditions, particularly in ¥ées Europe, may result in reduced product demiaedeased
price competition and higher excess inventory levelurmoil in the global geopolitical environmeinigluding the
ongoing tensions in Irag and the Middtest, have pressured and continue to pressurel globaomies. In additiol
rising oil prices may result in a reduction in comer spending and an increase in freight costs ttf the global
economic climate does not improve, our businessopiedating results will be harmed.

If disruptions in our transportation network occuor our shipping costs substantially increase, weyize
unable to sell or timely deliver our products androoperating expenses could increase.

We are highly dependent upon the transportatiotesyswe use to ship our products, including suréamkair
freight. Our attempts to closely match our inventewrels to our product demand intensify the needfir
transportation systems to function effectively aithout delay. On a quarterly basis, our shippintume also tenc
to steadily increase as the quarter progresseshwheans that any disruption in our transportatietwork in the
latter half of a quarter will have a more mateeifiect on our business than at the beginning afatqr.

The transportation network is subject to disruptiortongestion from a variety of causes, includatgpr
disputes or port strikes, acts of war or terrorigatural disasters and congestion resulting fraghdti shipping
volumes. Labor disputes among freight carriersatrabrts of entry are common, especially in Eurepel, we
expect labor unrest and its effects on shippingpraducts to be a continuing challenge for us. &®&eptember 11,
2001, the rate of inspection of international freigy governmental entities has substantially iasegl, and has
become increasingly unpredictable. If our deliviémyes increase unexpectedly for these or any o#@ons, our
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ability to deliver products on time would be maadlyi adversely affected and result in delayed et tevenue. In
addition, if the increases in fuel prices weredatmue, our transportation costs would likely fignt increase.
Moreover, the cost of shipping our products byfraiight is greater than other methods. From timgnte in the
past, we have shipped products using air freighteéet unexpected spikes in demand or to bring meduat
introductions to market quickly. If we rely moreawdly upon air freight to deliver our products, amwerall shipping
costs will increase. A prolonged transportatiomugigion or a significant increase in the cost eight could
severely disrupt our business and harm our operatisults.

We rely on a limited number of wholesale distribusadfor most of our sales, and if they refuse to payr
requested prices or reduce their level of purchgsas net revenue could decline.

We sell a substantial portion of our products tigtowholesale distributors, including Ingram Michag. and
Tech Data Corporation. During the fiscal year enBedember 31, 2006, sales to Ingram Micro andffifiases
accounted for 19% of our net revenue and salegth Data and its affiliates accounted for 16% ofrat revenue.
We expect that a significant portion of our netenewe will continue to come from sales to a smathber of
wholesale distributors for the foreseeable futreddition, because our accounts receivable areardgrated with
small group of purchasers, the failure of any ehthto pay on a timely basis, or at all, would redlaar cash flow.
We generally have no minimum purchase commitmenksng-term contracts with any of these distribatdrhese
purchasers could decide at any time to discontideesease or delay their purchases of our produrcesidition, the
prices that they pay for our products are subcigigotiation and could change at any time. If @ihgur major
wholesale distributors reduce their level of pusg®aor refuse to pay the prices that we set fopmducts, our net
revenue and operating results could be harmedirlfvbiolesale distributors increase the size ofrthmduct orders
without sufficient leadime for us to process the order, our ability thiffyproduct demands would be compromis

If the redemption rate for our end-user promotionatograms is higher than we estimate, then our metenue
and gross margin will be negatively affected.

From time to time we offer promotional incentivesluding cash rebates, to encourage end-usensroh@se
certain of our products. Purchasers must followcsjgeand stringent guidelines to redeem theseritiges or
rebates. Often qualified purchasers choose nqgtptydor the incentives or fail to follow the reqed redemption
guidelines, resulting in an incentive redemptioie 1af less than 100%. Based on historical dateestienate an
incentive redemption rate for our promotional peogs. If the actual redemption rate is higher thamestimated
rate, then our net revenue and gross margin witldgatively affected.

We are required to evaluate our internal control dar Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2008 any
adverse results from such evaluation could impattéstor confidence in the reliability of our inteal controls
over financial reporting.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002, we are required to furnish a report by our
management on our internal control over finan@gbrting. Such report must contain among otherargtan
assessment of the effectiveness of our internataloover financial reporting as of the end of éiscal year,
including a statement as to whether or not ouriralecontrol over financial reporting is effectivehis assessment
must include disclosure of any material weaknessesr internal control over financial reportingeittified by
management. Such report must also contain a statehag our independent registered public accogrfirm has
issued an audit report on management’s assessingmntiointernal controls.

We will continue to perform the system and proakssumentation and evaluation needed to comply with
Section 404, which is both costly and challengbgring this process, if our management identifies or more
material weaknesses in our internal control oweairicial reporting, we will be unable to assert satérnal control
is effective. If we are unable to assert that oternal control over financial reporting is effegtias of the end of a
fiscal year, or if our independent registered pubtcounting firm is unable to attest that our ng@naent’s report is
fairly stated or they are unable to express aniopian the effectiveness of our internal contradiofinancial
reporting, we could lose investor confidence indlbeuracy and completeness of our financial repaisch may
have an adverse effect on our stock price.
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We depend on a limited number of third-party conttamanufacturers for substantially all of our
manufacturing needs. If these contract manufactuseexperience any delay, disruption or quality caitr
problems in their operations, we could lose markétare and our brand may suffer.

All of our products are manufactured, assemblesieteand generally packaged by a limited numberigfnal
design manufacturers, or ODMs, and original equipmeanufacturers, or OEMs. We rely on our contract
manufacturers to procure components and, in sosescaubcontract engineering work. Some of ourymtsdare
manufactured by a single contract manufacturerdé/eot have any long-term contracts with any oftbind-party
contract manufacturers. Some of these third-paotygract manufacturers produce products for our aditgus. The
loss of the services of any of our primary thirdtpaontract manufacturers could cause a signifid&rtuption in
operations and delays in product shipments. Quatifg new contract manufacturer and commencingmelu
production is expensive and time consuming.

Our reliance on third-party contract manufactueds® exposes us to the following risks over whieéhhave
limited control:

* unexpected increases in manufacturing and repais}

« inability to control the quality of finished prodis¢

« inability to control delivery schedules; a

« potential lack of adequate capacity to manufacallrer a part of the products we requi

All of our products must satisfy safety and reguatstandards and some of our products must atsivie
government certifications. Our ODM and OEM contmaetnufacturers are primarily responsible for obtegnmost
regulatory approvals for our products. If our OD&8sl OEMs fail to obtain timely domestic or foreigrgulatory
approvals or certificates, we would be unable tbase products and our sales and profitability lcoioe reduced,
our relationships with our sales channel could &ented, and our reputation and brand would suffer.

If we are unable to provide our third-party contramanufacturers a timely and accurate forecast afro
component and material requirements, we may expecie delays in the manufacturing of our products arttte
costs of our products may increase.

We provide our third-party contract manufactureithwa rolling forecast of demand, which they use to
determine our material and component requireméetsd times for ordering materials and componentg va
significantly and depend on various factors, suctha specific supplier, contract terms and denaattdsupply for
component at a given time. Some of our componemts long lead times, such as wireless local areaank
chipsets, switching fabric chips, physical layansceivers, connector jacks and metal and plastiosures. If our
forecasts are not timely provided or are less tharactual requirements, our contract manufactureng be unable
to manufacture products in a timely manner. If fawecasts are too high, our contract manufactuwétde unable
to use the components they have purchased on bailfb&he cost of the components used in our prisdignds to
drop rapidly as volumes increase and the technedogiature. Therefore, if our contract manufactuseesunable to
promptly use components purchased on our behalGast of producing products may be higher than our
competitors due to an over supply of higher-pricechponents. Moreover, if they are unable to usepmmants
ordered at our direction, we will need to reimbutsem for any losses they incur.

We rely upon third parties for technology that isitical to our products, and if we are unable to mtnue to use
this technology and future technology, our abilitg develop, sell, maintain and support technolodlga
advanced products would be limited.

We rely on third parties to obtain non-exclusivéepéed hardware and software license rights inneldyies
that are incorporated into and necessary for tleeadipn and functionality of most of our produdtsthese cases,
because the intellectual property we license idaa from third parties, barriers to entry maylbeer than if we
owned exclusive rights to the technology we licesise use. On the other hand, if a competitor oel
competitor enters into an exclusive arrangemertt wiity of our key third-party technology providessjf any of
these providers unilaterally decide not to do besénwith us for any reason, our ability to devedod sell products
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containing that technology would be severely limitd we are shipping products which contain thpadty
technology that we subsequently lose the righicenke, then we will not be able to continue te@ioér support
those products. Our licenses often require royzdiyments or other consideration to third partias: &iccess will
depend in part on our continued ability to havesasdo these technologies, and we do not know wh#tlkse third-
party technologies will continue to be licensedisoon commercially acceptable terms or at all.dfaxe unable to
license the necessary technology, we may be fdrcadquire or develop alternative technology oféoguality or
performance standards. This would limit and delayability to offer new or competitive products andrease our
costs of production. As a result, our margins, raagkare, and operating results could be signifigd@rmed.

We also utilize third party software developmennpanies to develop, customize, maintain and support
software that is incorporated into our productshéfse companies fail to timely deliver or continsly maintain an
support the software that we require of them, wg exgerience delays in releasing new productsféicdlities with
supporting existing products and customers.

If we are unable to secure and protect our intelleal property rights, our ability to compete coulse harmed.

We rely upon third parties for a substantial partod the intellectual property we use in our praguét the
same time, we rely on a combination of copyriglaicdiémark, patent and trade secret laws, nondisel@greement
with employees, consultants and suppliers and athréiractual provisions to establish, maintain pratect our
intellectual property rights. Despite efforts t@act our intellectual property, unauthorized ttpatties may attem
to design around, copy aspects of our product desigbtain and use technology or other intelldgbuaperty
associated with our products. For example, onaiopdmary intellectual property assets is the NEERR name,
trademark and logo. We may be unable to stop frarties from adopting similar names, trademarkslagds,
especially in those international markets whereioigllectual property rights may be less proteckadthermore,
our competitors may independently develop simiéahhology or design around our intellectual propedur
inability to secure and protect our intellectuadperty rights could significantly harm our brandidusiness,
operating results and financial condition.

Our sales and operations in international marketgpose us to operational, financial and regulatorisks.

International sales comprise a significant amodimuo overall net revenue. International sales vé&% of
overall net revenue in fiscal 2006. We anticiphgg international sales may grow as a percentagetaevenue.
We have committed resources to expanding our iatemmal operations and sales channels and thesgsaffiay not
be successful. International operations are subjegtnumber of other risks, including:

* political and economic instability, internationattorism and anti-American sentiment, particulamly
emerging markets

» preference for locally branded products, and lamgslausiness practices favoring local competit
« exchange rate fluctuatior

« increased difficulty in managing inventol

« delayed revenue recognitic

« less effective protection of intellectual prope!

« stringent consumer protection and product compéaegulations, including but not limited to theeetly
enacted Restriction of Hazardous Substances diesatid the Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipman
WEEE directive in Europe, that may vary from courtr country and that are costly to comply withl:

« difficulties and costs of staffing and managingefign operations
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We intend to expand our operations and infrastrucéy which may strain our operations and increaserou
operating expenses.

We intend to expand our operations and pursue rhaggortunities domestically and internationallygtow
our sales. We expect that this attempted expamgibetrain our existing management informationtsyss, and
operational and financial controls. In additionwi continue to grow, our expenditures will likddg significantly
higher than our historical costs. We may not be &blinstall adequate controls in an efficient &mbly manner as
our business grows, and our current systems magenatiequate to support our future operations diffieulties
associated with installing and implementing theme systems, procedures and controls may placendisant
burden on our management, operational and finaresalurces. In addition, if we grow internationaile will have
to expand and enhance our communications infrasireiclf we fail to continue to improve our managsarn
information systems, procedures and financial @#twr encounter unexpected difficulties duringangion, our
business could be harmed.

We are continuing to implement our international oeganization, which is straining our resources and
increasing our operating expenses.

We have been reorganizing our foreign subsidiamebsentities to better manage and optimize ournateonal
operations. Our implementation of this project lieggisubstantial efforts by our staff and is resglin increased
staffing requirements and related expenses. Faitusaccessfully execute the reorganization orrdtetors outside
of our control could negatively impact the timingdaextent of any benefit we receive from the repizgtion. As
part of the reorganization, we have been implemgmew information technology systems, including/ne
forecasting and order processing systems. If wedauccessfully and timely integrate these nestesys, we will
suffer disruptions to our operations. Any unanttga interruptions in our business operationsrasat of
implementing these changes could result in logketay in revenue causing an adverse effect onioandial results

Our stock price may be volatile and your investm@mbur common stock could suffer a decline in vau

With the continuing uncertainty about economic dtiads in the United States, there has been sicpnifi
volatility in the market price and trading volumiesecurities of technology and other companiescivimay be
unrelated to the financial performance of thesegames. These broad market fluctuations may neggtaffect the
market price of our common stock.

Some specific factors that may have a significffieice on our common stock market price include:

 actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiagults or our competit¢ operating results

« actual or anticipated changes in the growth rath@fyeneral networking sector, our growth ratesusr
competitor’ growth rates

« conditions in the financial markets in general loarges in general economic conditic
« interest rate or currency exchange rate fluctuati
 our ability to raise additional capital; a

« changes in stock market analyst recommendatiorsdaty our common stock, other comparable companies
or our industry generally

Natural disasters, mischievous actions or terrorattacks could delay our ability to receive or stopr products,
or otherwise disrupt our business.

Our corporate headquarters are located in NortBatfifornia and one of our warehouses is locate8idathern
California, regions known for seismic activity. addition, substantially all of our manufacturingors in two
geographically concentrated areas in mainland Chwhare disruptions from natural disasters, hegtidemics and
political, social and economic instability may aff¢he region. If our manufacturers or warehousaujjities are
disrupted or destroyed, we would be unable toibige our products on a timely basis, which could
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harm our business. Moreover, if our computer infaion systems or communication systems, or thoseiof
vendors or customers, are subject to disruptivédraattacks or other disruptions, our businesscceuffer. We
have not established a formal disaster recoveny. @ar back-up operations may be inadequate antuginess
interruption insurance may not be enough to corgtenss for any losses that may occur. A signifitarginess
interruption could result in losses or damagestarch our business. For example, much of our ongdéhrient
process is automated and the order informatiotoiged on our servers. If our computer systems angess go dow
even for a short period at the end of a fiscal fguaour ability to recognize revenue would be gethuntil we were
again able to process and ship our orders, whialdaause our stock price to decline significantly.

If we lose the services of our Chairman and Chieké&cutive Officer, Patrick C.S. Lo, or our other key
personnel, we may not be able to execute our busingtrategy effectively.

Our future success depends in large part uponahencied services of our key technical, sales, etarg and
senior management personnel. In particular, thaaees of Patrick C.S. Lo, our Chairman and Chie¢&xive
Officer, who has led our company since its incaptare very important to our business. In Noven2€6,
Jonathan R. Mather, our former Executive Vice Riexsi and Chief Financial Officer, left the compaoyursue
other opportunities, and we are still in the preoafshiring his replacement. We do not maintain key person life
insurance policies. The loss of any of our senianagement or other key research, development, safearketing
personnel, particularly if lost to competitors, twbharm our ability to implement our business giggtand respond
to the rapidly changing needs of the small busiaesshome markets.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal administrative, sales, marketing aegkarch and development facilities occupy apprateiy
74,000 square feet in an office complex in Santaa;ICalifornia, under a lease that expires in Ddey 2007, with
a three-year renewal option. Our international lqeaders occupy approximately 10,000 square feanhiaffice
complex in Cork, Ireland, under a lease enterealimfebruary 2006 and expiring in December 202&. O
international sales personnel reside in local safiéses or home offices in Austria, Australia, BilaChina, Czech
Republic, Denmark, France, Germany, India, Itadypah, Korea, Norway, Poland, Russia, SingapordnSpa
Sweden, Switzerland, the Netherlands, the UnitexbAtmirates, and the United Kingdom. We also hgeraiions
personnel using a facility in Hong Kong, which isokeased from our third party logistics provideerky Logistics.
We also maintain a research and development faailiTaipei, Taiwan. From time to time we consigarious
alternatives related to our lorigkm facilities needs. While we believe our exigtfacilities are adequate to meet
immediate needs, it may be necessary to leasd@tilispace to accommodate future growth.

We use third parties to provide warehousing sesvioals, consisting of facilities in Southern Gatifia,
Hong Kong and the Netherlands.
Iltem 3. Legal Proceeding:

The information set forth under Note 6 of the Ndte€onsolidated Financial Statements, includeart 1V,
Item 15 of this report, is incorporated herein bference. For an additional discussion of certaksrassociated
with legal proceedings, see the section entitledkRactors” in Item 1A of this report.

ltem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holde

No matters were submitted to a vote of the sectgtders during the quarter ended December 31,.2006
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registran’'s Common Stock, Related Stockholder Matters ansiusr Purchases of Equity
Securities

Our common stock has been quoted under the syMNIGER” on the Nasdaq National Market from July 31,
2003 to July 1, 2006, and on the Nasdaq GlobakEMarket since then. Prior to that time, there wagpublic
market for our common stock. The following tablésgferth for the indicated periods the high and kades prices
for our common stock on the Nasdaq markets. Suohnvation reflects interdealer prices, without etaarkup,
markdown or commission, and may not represent btarssactions.

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 20! High Low

First Quartel $19.1€  $13.4¢
Second Quarte 20.7¢ 12.9¢
Third Quartel 25.7: 18.6¢
Fourth Quarte 24.3( 17.52
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 20! High Low

First Quarte! $19.5¢ $16.6¢
Second Quarte 25.3¢ 18.4(
Third Quartel 21.6¢ 16.92
Fourth Quarte 28.1¢ 20.01

On February 16, 2007, there were 26 stockholdersaufrd.
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Company Performance

Notwithstanding any statement to the contrary ig @hour previous or future filings with the Setias and
Exchange Commission, the following information tiela to the price performance of our common stdwdIsiot be
deemed “filed” with the Commission or “solicitingaterial” under the 1934 Act and shall not be incorated by

reference into any such filings.

The following graph shows a comparison from JulyZ103 (the date our common stock commenced trading

on the Nasdaq National Market) through Decembef8@6 of cumulative total return for our commoncktahe
Nasdaq Composite Index and the Nasdagq Computex.Isdreh returns are based on historical resultsaamaot
intended to suggest future performance. Data iNhsdag Composite Index and the Nasdaq Computex In
assume reinvestment of dividends. We have nevdrgigidends on our common stock and have no prgsans to

do so.
200
—1= NETGEAR, Inc.
= NASDAG Computer Index
—O— NASDAQ Composite Index
o | 50}
=4
5 R
-
'J /
2 100 W
50) T T T T T
31-Jul-03 31-Dec-03 Al-Dec-04 Al-Dec-05 3-Dec-06
July 31, 200 | December 31, 20C [ December 31, 20C | December 31, 20C | December 31, 200
NETGEAR, Inc. $ 100.0C |$ 90.3¢ | $ 102.6¢ |$ 108.8: |$ 148.3¢
NASDAQ Computer
Index $ 100.0C [$ 116.7¢ |$ 120.5¢ |$ 123.8¢ |$ 131.5]
NASDAQ Composite
Index $ 100.0C |$ 11547 |$ 125.3¢ |$ 127.1. |$ 139.2]

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooapital stock. We currently intend to retain fetu
earnings, if any, to finance the operation and egjmn of our business, and we do not anticipaténgagash

dividends in the foreseeable future.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table summarizes the number of outditag options granted to employees and directersyedl

as the number of securities remaining availablduture issuance, under our compensation plan$ as o
December 31, 2006.

(©

(a) Number of Securities
Number of Securities (b) Remaining Available for
to be Issued Upon Weighted-Average Future Issuance Under
Exercise of Exercise Price of Equity Compensation Plan:
Outstanding Options Outstanding Options, (Excluding Securities
Plan Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column(a))
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders(1 4,04845 % 14.3% 1,911,86.

Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holde — —

(1) These plans include our 2000 Stock Option Plan3Z&tock Plan, 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan, 2006
Stanc-Alone Stock Option Agreement, and 2003 EmployeelSRurchase Plal
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ltem 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Da

The following selected consolidated financial data qualified in their entirety, and should be rgmad
conjunction with, the consolidated financial sta¢ers and related notes thereto, and “Managem&iscussion an
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiems” included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

We derived the selected consolidated statememperfations data for the years ended December 2005, 2
and 2006 and the selected consolidated balancé ddtmeas of December 31, 2005 and 2006 from aditesl
consolidated financial statements appearing elsenihehis Form 10-K. We derived the selected cbdated
statement of operations data for the years endedreer 31, 2002 and 2003 and the selected conwalibalance
sheet data as of December 31, 2002, 2003 and 26@4dur audited consolidated financial statememksch are

not included in this Form 10-K.

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
(In thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Datz
Net revenue $237,33. $299,30: $383,13¢ $449,61( $573,57(
Cost of revenue(z 177,11¢ 215,46( 260,31¢ 297,91. 379,91:
Gross profit 60,21¢ 83,84: 122,82: 151,69¢ 193,65!
Operating expense

Research and development 7,66t 8,67¢ 10,31¢ 12,831 18,44:

Sales and marketing(; 32,96¢ 49,67¢ 62,24 71,34¢ 91,88:

General and administrative( 8,97( 9,45: 14,90¢ 14,55¢ 20,90¢

In-process research and developn — — — — 2,90(

Litigation reserve: — — — 802 —

Total operating expens 49,60: 67,80¢ 87,46¢ 99,54 134,12¢

Income from operatior 10,61 16,03: 35,35!¢ 52,15¢ 59,53(
Interest incom 11¢ 364 1,59:¢ 4,104 6,97¢
Interest expens (1,240 (907) — — —
Extinguishment of det — (5,86¢) — — —
Other income (expens (19) (59) (560 (1,770 2,49t
Income before taxe 9,47: 9,57 36,38¢ 54,49( 68,99¢
Provision for (benefit from) income tax 1,33 (3,524 12,92: 20,867 27,86
Net income 8,13¢ 13,09 23,46¢ 33,62 41,13:
Deemed dividend on preferred stc (17,887) — — —
Net income (loss) attributable to commr

stockholder: $ (9,747 $ 13,097 $ 23,46F $ 33,627 $ 41,130
Net income (loss) per share attributable to com

stockholders

Basic(1) $ (046 $ 058 $ 077 $ 104 $ 1.2t

Diluted(1) $ (046 $ 04 $ 07z $ 09¢ §$ 11a¢

(1) Information regarding calculation of per share datescribed in Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidate

Financial Statement
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(2) Stoclk-based compensation expense was allocated as fo

Cost of revenu $144 $12&¢ $16= $147 $ 43C
Research and developmt 30¢€ 454 40C 293 1,11¢
Sales and marketir 34¢ 71E 73% 37¢E 1,40¢
General and administrati 867 47¢€ 391 24¢ 1,551

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted®imt of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”)
No. 123 (revised 2004“Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R").

December 31
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Date
Cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment ~ $19,88( $ 73,60f $141,71' $173,65¢ $197,46!

Working capital 13,75: 130,75! 180,69t 230,41t 280,87
Total asset 93,85: 205,14t 300,23t 356,29° 437,90:
Total current liabilities 76,39¢ 70,20" 115,04 120,29: 143,48
Redeemable convertible preferred st 48,05: — — — —
Total stockholdel' equity (deficit) (30,597  134,93¢ 185,19« 236,00 294,42:

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financi@bndition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion of ouafficial condition and results of operations togeth&th the
audited consolidated financial statements and ntiele financial statements included elsewherthim
Form 1(-K. This discussion contains forward-looking sta¢eis that involve risks and uncertainties. The oo
looking statements are not historical facts, buhea are based on current expectations, estimatgs)mptions and
projections about our industry, business and fufimancial results. Our actual results could diffeaterially from
the results contemplated by these forward-lookiagesnents due to a number of factors, includingé¢hdiscussed
under “Risk Factors” in Part I, Iltem 1A above.

Business Overview

We design, develop and market innovative networkiraglucts that address the specific needs of dyualhes
and home users. We define small business as adsgswith fewer than 250 employees. We are focused o
satisfying the ease-of-use, reliability, performaand affordability requirements of these users.goduct
offerings enable users to share Internet accesphgeals, files, digital multimedia content anchgations among
multiple personal computers, or PCs, and otherneteenabled devices.

Our product line consists of wired and wirelessickev that enable Ethernet networking, broadbandssc@and
network connectivity. These products are availabl@ultiple configurations to address the needswfendusers il
each geographic region in which our products ale so

We sell our networking products through multipléesachannels worldwide, including traditional réges,
online retailers, wholesale distributors, DMRs, VARNd broadband service providers. Our retail mblincludes
traditional retail locations domestically and imtationally, such as Best Buy, Circuit City, CompUS$Xostco, Fry’'s
Electronics, Radio Shack, Staples, Argos (U.K.xdbs (U.K.), PC World (U.K.), MediaMarkt (Germarstria),
and FNAC (France). Online retailers include Amazom, Newegg.com and Buy.com. Our DMRs include Dell,
CDW Corporation, Insight Corporation and PC Conioecin domestic markets and Misco throughout Eurdpe
addition, we also sell our products through broadbservice providers, such as multiple system dapesan
domestic markets and cable and DSL operators wtierrally. Some of these retailers and resellerstase directl
from us while most are fulfilled through wholesdistributors around the world. A substantial portaf our net
revenue to date has been derived from a limitedhauraf wholesale distributors, the
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largest of which are Ingram Micro Inc. and Techd@brporation. We expect that these wholesaleildigtrs will
continue to contribute a significant percentagewfnet revenue for the foreseeable future.

We have well developed channels in the United Statel Europe, Middle-East and Africa, or EMEA, anel
building a strong presence in the Asia PacificaagWe derive the majority of our net revenue fiiaternational
sales. International sales as a percentage oémehue grew from 56% in 2005 to 62% in 2006. Sial€SMEA
grew from $200.0 million in 2005 to $298.2 milliam 2006, representing an increase of approximat@®s during
that period. We continue to penetrate new marketh as Brazil, Eastern Europe, India, and the Midetst.

Our net revenue grew 27.6% during the year ende@mber 31, 2006, primarily attributable to highales of
DSL gateway and powerline products to new and iegigtervice provider customers, especially in Eargs well
as continued strength in our RangeMax wirelesserquioduct line.

The small business and home networking marketssgrsely competitive and subject to rapid techgicial
change. We expect our competition to continue tenisify. We believe that the principal competitfaetors in the
small business and home markets for networkingymtsdnclude product breadth, size and scope ofdles
channel, brand name, timeliness of new produabéhictions, product performance, features, functignand
reliability, ease-of-installation, maintenance arseé, and customer service and support. To remanpetitive, we
believe we must invest significant resources ineltgying new products, enhancing our current pragweotpanding
our channels and maintaining customer satisfactiordwide.

Our gross margin improved to 33.8% for the yearendecember 31, 2006 from 33.7% for the year ended
December 31, 2005. Our gross margin improvementpriagrily due to decreased marketing costs andanga
vendor rebates, offset by increased sales of ptsaaerying lower gross margins to service pro\sd@mperating
expenses for the year ended December 31, 20063481 million or 23.4% of net revenue and $99.Bioni or
22.1% of net revenue for the year ended Decemhe2(Bb.

Net income increased $7.5 million, to $41.1 millfon the year ended December 31, 2006 from $33ligomi
for the year ended December 31, 2005. This increasedue to an increase in gross profit of $42l6aniand an
increase in interest and other income of $7.1 anillioffset by an increase in operating expens&846 million ant
an increase in provision for income taxes of $7illian.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have beepapee in accordance with accounting principles gahye
accepted in the United States of America. The pegjmm of these financial statements requires mameept to
make assumptions, judgments and estimates thdtasamna significant impact on the reported amouhéssets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses. We base omnagsis on historical experience and on variousraksumptions
believed to be applicable and reasonable undesitb@mstances. Actual results could differ sigrafidy from these
estimates. These estimates may change as new eeents as additional information is obtained asadar
operating environment changes. On a regular basiswaluate our assumptions, judgments and estiraatemake
changes accordingly. We also discuss our criticebanting estimates with the Audit Committee of Board of
Directors. Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Raia Statements describes the significant accogriolicies
used in the preparation of the consolidated firelrstatements. We have listed below our criticabaaoting policie:
which we believe to have the greatest potentiakichpn our consolidated financial statements. Iisatly, our
assumptions, judgments and estimates relativertardical accounting policies have not differedterally from
actual results.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from product sales is recognized at the tima product is shipped provided that persuasideace o
an arrangement exists, title and risk of loss hassfterred to the customer, the selling pricexedior determinable
and collection of the related receivable is reabynassured. Currently, for some of our customigs,passes to tr
customer upon delivery to the port or country ddtadgation, upon their receipt of the product, comphe customes’
resale of the product. At the end of each fiscalrtpr, we estimate and defer revenue related wustavhere title
has not transferred. The revenue continues to teerdd until such time that title passes to the
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customer. The amount and timing of our revenueafgr period could be materially different if our ragement
made different judgments and estimates.

Allowances for Product Warranties, Returns due tto8k Rotation, Price Protection, Sales Incentivast
Doubtful Accounts

Our standard warranty obligation to our direct oostrs generally provides for a right of return oy @roduct
for a full refund in the event that such produatd merchantable or is found to be damaged orctieée At the
time revenue is recognized, an estimate of futlagamty returns is recorded to reduce revenuedrathount of the
expected credit or refund to be provided to thedigct customers. At the time we record the reidadb revenue
related to warranty returns, we include within cafstevenue a write-down to reduce the carryingigaidf such
products to net realizable value. Our standardamyrobligation to endisers provides for repair or replacement
defective product for one or more years. Factaats dffect the warranty obligation include produwtifre rates,
material usage, and service delivery costs incumesrrecting product failures. The estimated esstociated with
fulfilling the warranty obligation to end-usersrexcorded in cost of revenue. Because our produetsanufactured
by contract manufacturers, in certain cases we res@urse to the contract manufacturer for replacgrar credit
for the defective products. We give consideratmarnounts recoverable from our contract manufargine
determining our warranty liability. Our estimatdtbaances for product warranties can vary from attasults and
we may have to record additional revenue reductisrtcharges to cost of revenue which could matgnalpact oul
financial position and results of operations.

In addition to warrantyelated returns, certain distributors and retaignserally have the right to return proc
for stock rotation purposes. Every quarter, stat&tion rights are generally limited to 10% of imsexd sales to the
distributor or retailer in the prior quarter. Upsimipment of the product, we reduce revenue forstimate of
potential future stock rotation returns relatedh® current period product revenue. We analyzetidstl returns,
channel inventory levels, current economic tremts @hanges in customer demand for our products wheluating
the adequacy of the allowance for sales returmaghastock rotation returns. Our estimated allovesnfor returns
due to stock rotation can vary from actual resaittd we may have to record additional revenue ré@hgivhich
could materially impact our financial position argults of operations.

Sales incentives provided to customers are accddateén accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force
(“EITF") Issue No. 01-9, “Accounting for Considei@t Given by a Vendor to a Customer or Resellghef
Vendor’s Products”. Under these guidelines, wewfor sales incentives as a marketing expense ifeseive an
identifiable benefit in exchange and can reasonesiiynate the fair value of the identifiable benedteived;
otherwise, it is recorded as a reduction of reven@eir estimated provisions for sales incentivesveaay from
actual results and we may have to record additierpé&nses or additional revenue reductions dep¢odethe
classification of the sales incentive.

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accountsefstimated losses resulting from the inability of ou
customers to make required payments. We regularfppn credit evaluations of our customers’ finahciondition
and consider factors such as historical experiesregit quality, age of the accounts receivablamhegs, and
geographic or country-specific risks and economiaditions that may affect a customer’s ability &aypThe
allowance for doubtful accounts is reviewed montyl adjusted if necessary based on our assessofi@uts
customersability to pay. If the financial condition of ouustomers should deteriorate or if actual defaukishighe
than our historical experience, additional allonesymay be required, which could have an adversadtrgn
operating expenses.

Valuation of Inventory

We value our inventory at the lower of cost or nedrkost being determined using the first-in, flat method.
We continually assess the value of our inventoy &itl periodically write down its value for estiral excess and
obsolete inventory based upon assumptions abauefademand and market conditions. On a quartedispave
review inventory quantities on hand and on ordetemmon-cancelable purchase commitments, including
consignment inventory, in comparison to our estaéddbrecast of product demand for the next ninethsto
determine what inventory, if any, are not saleaBler analysis is based on the demand forecastkestinto
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account market conditions, product developmentglproduct life expectancy and other factors. Basethis
analysis, we write down the affected inventory edlor estimated excess and obsolescence chargtee point of
loss recognition, a new, lower cost basis for the¢ntory is established, and subsequent chandests and
circumstances do not result in the restoratiomorgase in that newly established cost basis. Asdstrated durin
prior years, demand for our products can fluctsagaificantly. If actual demand is lower than oardcasted
demand and we fail to reduce our manufacturing raiegly, we could be required to write down addigd
inventory, which would have a negative effect on gnoss margin.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under an asset andltliadpproach. Under this method, income tax egeeis
recognized for the amount of taxes payable or @dbfe for the current year. In addition, defereeddssets and
liabilities are recognized for the expected futiae consequences of temporary differences resuttorg different
treatments for tax versus accounting of certaim#esuch as accruals and allowances not curreatlyatible for ta:
purposes. These differences result in deferredsarts and liabilities, which are included wittiia tonsolidated
balance sheet. We must then assess the likelilmadadutr deferred tax assets will be recovered fiwiore taxable
income and to the extent we believe that recovenpt more likely than not, we must establish a&gbn
allowance. As of December 31, 2006, we believe dhaif our deferred tax assets are recoverablegher, if there
were a change in our ability to recover our defittex assets, we would be required to take a charte period in
which we determined that recovery was not mordyikean not.

Our effective tax rate differs from the statutoayer due to tax credits, state taxes, stock compiensand other
factors. Our future effective tax rate could be atged by a shift in the mix of domestic and foreigtome, tax
treaties with foreign jurisdictions; changes in laws in the United States or internationally; arfpe which would
result in a valuation allowance being requiredeadcorded; or a federal, state or foreign jurisaits view of tax
returns which differs materially from what we onglly provided. We assess the probability of advenstcomes
from tax examinations regularly to determine thecqaghcy of our income tax liability. If we ultimayadetermine
that payment of these amounts is unnecessary,weeseethe liability and recognize a tax benefitinyithe period i
which we determine that the liability is no longercessary. We record an additional charge in aawigion for
taxes in the period in which we determine thatrdmrded tax liability is less than we expect thinate
assessment to be.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the consolidatedesteents of operations and the percentage changetifre
preceding year for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

Percentagt Percentagt
2004 Change 2005 Change 2006
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Net revenu $383,13¢ 17.3% $449,61( 27.€% $573,57(
Cost of revenu 260,31¢ 14.2 297,91: 27.5 379,91:
Gross profit 122,82: 23.t 151,69¢ 27.1 193,65¢
Operating expense
Research and developm:e 10,31¢ 24.¢ 12,83’ 43.7 18,44:
Sales and marketir 62,247 14.€ 71,34¢ 28.¢ 91,88:
General and administrati\ 14,90¢ (2.3 14,55¢ 43.€ 20,90¢
In-process research and developn — * — *x 2,90(C
Litigation reserve: — ** 802 (100.0 —
Total operating expens 87,46¢ 13.¢ 99,54 34.7 134,12¢
Income from operatior 35,35 47.F 52,15¢ 14.1 59,53(
Interest incom 1,59: 157.€ 4,10¢ 69.¢ 6,974
Other income (expense), r (560) 216.1 (1,770 *x 2,49t
Income before income tax 36,38t 49.¢ 54,49( 26.€ 68,99¢
Provision for income taxe 12,92: 61.t 20,867 33.t 27,867
Net income $ 23,46! 43.5% $ 33,62 22.2% $ 41,13C

** Percentage change not meaningful as prior yeas asero or a negative amou
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The following table sets forth the consolidatedesteents of operations, expressed as a percentaggd of
revenue, for the periods presented:

Year Ended
December 31,
2004 2005 2006

Net revenue 10C% 10C(% 10C%
Cost of revenu 67.¢ 66.2 66.2
Gross margir 321 337 33.€
Operating expense
Research and developmt 2.7 2.8 3.2
Sales and marketir 16.2 15¢ 16.C
General and administratiy 3.9 3.2 3.7
In-process research and developn 0.C 0.C 0.5
Litigation reserve: 0.C 0.2 0.C
Total operating expens 22.¢ 221 234
Income from operatior 9.2 11 104
Interest incomt 0.4 0.¢ 1.2
Other income (expense), r (0.2) (0.9 0.4
Income before income tax 9.5 121 12cC
Provision for income taxe 3.4 4.€ 4.8
Net income 6.1% 7.5% 7.2%

Net Revenue

Year Ended December 31,

Percentage Percentage
2004 Change 2005 Change 2006
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Net revenue $383,13¢ 17.2% $449,61( 27.€% $573,57!

Our net revenue consists of gross product shipmksts allowances for estimated returns for stotition and
warranty, price protection and sales incentivesrosbto be a reduction of net revenue per EITF Idsued1-9 and
net changes in deferred revenue. Sales incentichsdie advertising, cooperative marketing prograans-caps,
instant rebates and mail-in rebates.

2006 Net Revenue Compared to 2005 Net Revenue

Net revenue increased $124.0 million, or 27.69%583.6 million for the year ended December 31, 20@n
$449.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 continued to experience our seasonal patfarigber net
revenues in the second half of the year. The iser@arevenue was especially attributable to highaérs of DSL
gateway and powerline products to new and exigtergice provider customers, especially in Europe majority
of these incremental sales specifically includedwiveless gateway customized for major servicevigl@r British
Sky Broadcasting in the United Kingdom, with shiprtseof wireless gateways and powerline productsher
service providers further improving revenue.

Sales were further enhanced by the first full yfeRangeMax wireless router sales to the home mavke
introduced our RangeMax family of products, whiobluded performance-enhancing Multiple-In Multifidex
(MIMO) technology, during 2005, and the market bastinued to embrace this key product line througltloe
year. We expect the RangeMax family to remain gfiiarthe coming year, and anticipate continuing recent
trend of increased sales of customized wirelesswgats to service providers, both domestically amoad. We
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also anticipate new products such as our wirelesstiters, Skype wii phones, and Gigabit smart switches to drive nexs
in the near future.

Sales incentives that are classified as contranrggrew at a slower rate than overall gross saleish further
contributed to the increased net revenue. Thisimsgily due to increased sales to the service igevmarkets, which
typically require less marketing spending. Thisoi@ble net revenue impact was partially offset bhyrarease in sales
returns compared to historical return rates.

For the year ended December 31, 2006 revenue dedénathe United States, EMEA and Asia Pacific east of world
was 38.4%, 52.0% and 9.6%, respectively. The coafgbamet revenue for the year ended December 85, 2@s 44.3%,
44.5% and 11.2%, respectively. The increase imev&nue over the prior year for each region wag¥%049.2% and 8.8%,
respectively.

2005 Net Revenue Compared to 2004 Net Revenue

Net revenue increased $66.5 million, or 17.3%,44%6 million for the year ended December 31, 26@Bn
$383.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 continued to experience our seasonal patfenigber net
revenues in the second half of the year. The iser@garevenue was especially attributable to highérs of wireless LAN
products to the home market, especially the newgBlsliax family of products and continued strengtksiand Super-G
products, as well as increased gross shipmentsrdfroadband gateways. These revenue increasepautialy offset by
increases in allowances for sales incentives aat®ativith increased retail product sales.

We were able to slow down the pace of erosion maeerage selling prices on our relatively olderdarcts in 2005 in
part due to our new “minimum advertised price” pplwith our U.S. retailers, as well as a genemlvdlown in competitive
pricing pressures.

End-user customer rebates and other sales incentivieh are classified as reductions in net revémcreased in 2005,
especially in the latter half of 2005 when we t@okvantage of significant strategic joint promotagportunities with our
biggest retail partners both in the U.S. and inofpar For example, we co-marketed our new Rangeli@iyf of products
with U.S. national retailers using a unified adigéng campaign involving ad circulars and new eag-displays. These
increases in spending combined with higher usendfieser customer rebates impacted our revenue lgrowt

For the year ended December 31, 2005 revenue dedeénathe United States, EMEA and Asia Pacific sest of world
was 44.3%, 44.5% and 11.2%, respectively. The coappanet revenue for the year ended December(®Y was 48.8%,
41.6% and 9.6%, respectively. The increase inenatimue over the prior year for each region was 628/8% and 37.5%,
respectively.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Year Ended December 31,

Percentagt Percentagt
2004 Change 2005 Change 2006
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Cost of revenu $260,31¢ 14.26 $297,91: 27.5% $379,91:
Gross margin percenta 32.1% 33.% 33.&%

Cost of revenue consists primarily of the followitige cost of finished products from our third-gasontract
manufacturers; overhead costs including purchagiragjuct planning, inventory control, warehousing aistribution
logistics; inbound freight; and warranty costs assted with returned goods and write-downs for egand obsolete
inventory. We outsource our manufacturing, warehmuand distribution logistics. We believe this sarcing strategy
allows us to better manage our product costs amssgnargin. Our gross margin can be affected hynsber of factors,
including sales returns, changes in net revenuesalahanges in average selling prices, salestivesnand changes in our
cost of goods sold due to fluctuations in pricesl fiar components, net
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of vendor rebates, warranty and overhead costeuimi freight, conversion costs, and charges foegxor obsolete
inventory and transitions from older to newer prctdu

Cost of revenue increased $82.0 million, or 27.&8/$379.9 million for the year ended December 3D&2 from
$297.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2@D% gross margin improved to 33.8% for the yeateel December 3
2006, from 33.7% for the year ended December 31520

Our gross margin is impacted by our sales incesgtikiat are recorded as a reduction in revenue vl at a
relatively slower rate than overall net revenuemast of our revenue increases relate to salesrtice providers, which
involve significantly lower sales incentive expesis&édditionally, we experienced decreased pricégotmn claims, as well
as relatively lower inbound freight during the yess we were able to shift the mix of inbound shepita from our suppliers
from more costly air freight to lower cost seadtgidue to better supply chain planning. Furtheenmebates from vendors
were significantly higher in 2006. While we do magect this higher level of rebates to continuthanfuture, we anticipate
lower costs on these products.

These improvements were almost entirely offset hyraber of factors. Incremental sales in 2006 carimaarily from
increased sales of products carrying lower groggimato service providers. We also experienceceesed warranty and
sales returns costs, driven primarily by a higloeas rate of warranty return units and an incréaseserves taken for fut.
returns based on the increase in returns volumieglthie year. We also experienced higher costsatka inventory
reserves and devaluation.

Additionally, stock-based compensation expenseeeesrd $283,000 to $430,000 for the year ended Deedd, 2006,
from $147,000 for the year ended December 31, 2893, result of the adoption of Statement of Firs#acounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123 (revised 2004), “Shaes&] Payment” (“SFAS 123R").

Cost of revenue increased $37.6 million, or 14.49%297.9 million for the year ended December D52from
$260.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2@4 gross margin improved to 33.7% for the yewteel December 3
2005, from 32.1% for the year ended December 304 28n increase of 1.6 percentage points. Thigasa was due
primarily to a favorable shift in product mix andrgroduct costs decreasing relatively more quithén sales prices, offs
by an increase in end-user customer rebates ard sdles incentives, which reduce revenue along iwitreased inbound
freight and conversion costs.

We were able to slow down the pace of erosion maeerage selling prices on our relatively oldardarcts in 2005 in
part due to our new “minimum advertised price” pplwith our U.S. retailers, as well as a genemlvdlown in competitive
pricing pressures. We have also had continued sadoebtaining cost reductions and efficienciesnfiour vendors and
manufacturers, and have pursued product redesigans appropriate to further lower production cotese decreasing
costs, coupled with the relative slowing in therdase of average selling prices, boosted margirmioolder products,
especially our G and Super G wireless adaptersitidddlly, we have benefited from relatively highetandard margins on
newer products, especially from our RangeMax familproducts.

It is difficult to accurately forecast demand farrgroducts across our markets and within specdimtries. The shift in
the mix of actual orders compared to forecastedashgimesulted in a higher than normal reliance orereapensive air
versus surface freight during the last quarterGif2as well as higher rework and other costs piiynaslated to product
conversions among country-specific packaging.

Additionally, stock-based compensation expenseedsed $16,000 to $147,000 for the year ended Demedibh 2005,
from $163,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004.
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Operating Expenses
Research and development expense

Year Ended December 31,

Percentagt Percentage¢
2004 Change 2005 Change 2006
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Research and development expe $10,31¢ 24.4% $12,83" 43.71% $18,44:
Percentage of net reven 2.7% 2.8% 3.2%

Research and development expenses consist priroplgrsonnel expenses, payments to suppliersefsigd
services, tooling design costs, safety and regyldésting, product certification expenditures tmlify our product:
for sale into specific markets, prototypes and otoasulting fees. Research and development expemse
recognized as they are incurred. We have investedilding our research and development organigaticenhance
our ability to introduce innovative and easy to peeducts. We expect to continue to add additiengbloyees in
our research and development department. In thiecfute believe that research and development ezpemd
increase in absolute dollars as we expand intopreduct technologies, enhance the ease-of-usergfroducts,
and broaden our core competencies.

Research and development expenses increased $Bofinoir 43.7%, to $18.4 million for the year emnlde
December 31, 2006, from $12.8 million for the yeaded December 31, 2005. The increase was printhréyto
higher salary and related payroll expenses of #llion resulting from research and developmerated headcou
growth, including $486,000 related to retention les for certain employees associated with theisitiqn of
SkipJam. Employee headcount increased by 15% &nGfloyees as of December 31, 2006 as compared to 54
employees as of December 31, 2005, in part dusfdagees obtained from the acquisition of SkipJahe
increase was also attributable to an increase dfi$#lion in engineering costs. These costs weceallired to
improve the quality of our small business produgtditionally, stock-based compensation expenseeased
$826,000 to $1.1 million for the year ended Decen®ie 2006, from $293,000 for the year ended Deeezrih,
2005, as a result of the adoption of SFAS 123R.

Research and development expenses increased $Rosinoir 24.4%, to $12.8 million for the year emnlde
December 31, 2005, from $10.3 million for the yeaded December 31, 2004. The increase was printhréyto
increased salary and payroll related expenses.dfiiflion resulting from research and developnrefdted
headcount growth. Employee headcount increasedtytd 54 employees as of December 31, 2005 as cethpa
40 employees as of December 31, 2004. These heatdosteases were primarily due to the expansioouof
research and development facility in Taiwan andaespn of our focus on the broadband service pesvigarket
which often requires additional certifications aasting. Additionally, stock-based compensationesige decreased
$107,000 to $293,000 for the year ended Decemhe2@®I5, from $400,000 for the year ended DecembgeP304.

Sales and marketing expense

Year Ended December 31,

Percentagt Percentage¢
2004 Change 2005 Change 2006
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Sales and marketing exper $62,24" 14.€% $71,34¢ 28.8% $91,88:
Percentage of net reven 16.2% 15.9% 16.(%

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilgleérising, trade shows, corporate communicationsathe
marketing expenses, product marketing expenselsoont freight costs, personnel expenses for salsnarketing
staff and technical support expenses. We belieatentiaintaining and building brand awareness ist&dyoth net
revenue growth and maintaining our gross margin.a¥¥e believe that maintaining widely available &ngh
quality technical support is key to building andimtaining brand awareness. Accordingly, we expalttsand
marketing expenses to increase in absolute dofiatee future, related to the planned growth of lbusiness.
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Sales and marketing expenses increased $20.6 mitiiac28.8%, to $91.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006, from $71.3 million for the yeaded December 31, 2005. We note that sales aricbtimay
expenses grew in line with revenue growth. Of thisease, $9.4 million was due to increased saadypayroll
related expenses as a result of sales and marketatgd headcount growth and increased commissiamsed in
EMEA due to substantial revenue growth. Employesdheunt increased from 157 employees as of Decegiher
2005 to 207 employees as of December 31, 2006. Bjeeifically, 46 of the 50 incremental employesate to
expansion in EMEA and Asia Pacific, which represemir continued geographic expansion and increasites
staffing in these regions. For example, we estabtisa Technical Support Center in our Ireland effighich
accounted for 7 new individuals. Outside serviasfelated to customer service and technical stipfsw increase
by $4.9 million, in support of higher call volumesated to increased units sold. We also incurr®dl.@ million
increase in advertising, travel, and promotion esgs related to our expansion of marketing aciwitinto new
geographies. Outbound freight increased $1.6 millieflecting our higher sales volume. Marketingtsclassified
as operating expenses remained relatively constarihe majority of incremental marketing expemsésed to
rebates and other items classified as contra-rexeaditionally, stock-based compensation expenseased
$1.0 million to $1.4 million for the year ended Retber 31, 2006, from $375,000 for the year endezkBéber 31,
2005, as a result of the adoption of SFAS 123R.

Sales and marketing expenses increased $9.1 mitliahv.6%, to $71.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005, from $62.2 million for the yeaded December 31, 2004. Of this increase, $5llomivas
due to product promotion, including intensifiedstore staffing and training programs, advertisang] outside
technical support expenses, all in support of imeeel volume. In addition, salary and related exgeefar additional
sales and marketing personnel increased by $2libmds a result of sales and marketing relatedi¢mant growth
from 125 employees as of December 31, 2004 to tipiayees as of December 31, 2005. We attributeof 28e 3:
incremental employee additions to expansion in EM#BA Asia Pacific, where sales and marketing engaoy
headcount grew 46% and 35%, respectively. The @&seravas also attributable to additional allocatetiread cost
such as facilities and information systems costsuarting to $851,000, which reflects sales and ntaryjes larger
relative headcount growth rate and correspondihgiier share of overhead costs. Additionally, stbaked
compensation expense decreased $358,000 to $376)00@ year ended December 31, 2005, from $783{60
the year ended December 31, 2004.

General and administrative expense

Year Ended December 31,

Percentagt Percentage¢
2004 Change 2005 Change 2006
(In thousands, except percentage data)
General and administrative expel $14,90¢ -2.2% $14,55¢ 43.€% $20,90¢
Percentage of net reven 3.% 3.2% 3.7%

General and administrative expenses consist ofisgland related expenses for executive, finande an
accounting, human resources, professional feesyatice for bad debts, and other corporate expenseexpect
general and administrative costs to increase inlatesdollars related to the general growth offihsiness,
continued international expansion, and increaseelsitments in infrastructure such as a new enterpesource
planning system.

General and administrative expenses increased$ifign, or 43.6%, to $20.9 million for the yeardsd
December 31, 2006, from $14.6 million for the yeaded December 31, 2005. The increase was printaréyto
higher salary and payroll related expenses of 88ll&>n due to an increase in general and admiaiiste related
headcount. Employee headcount increased by 25% ¢onployees as of December 31, 2006 compared to
53 employees as of December 31, 2005. Of the inenéah 13 additions, 8 personnel were hired int@anting and
finance departments in our new Ireland office. Wé® ancurred a $1.4 million increase in fees fotsale
professional services, which was in part relategiitancrease in IT consulting costs, tax consuléing general legal
expenses. Additionally, stock-based compensatiperse increased approximately $1.4 million to $iiléon for
the year ended December 31, 2006, from $249,00théoyear ended December 31, 2005, as a restileafdoption
of SFAS 123R.
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General and administrative expenses decreasedxampittely $300,000, or 2.3%, to $14.6 million foethear
ended December 31, 2005, from $14.9 million forybar ended December 31, 2004. This decrease \vaarjly
due to a decrease in fees for professional seraggeegating $1.7 million and a decrease in netated overhead
such as information systems costs aggregating $888offset by an increase in employee relatedsaufst
$2.1 million. The decrease in fees for professi@ealices resulted from decreases in consultingoouced
accounting fees and legal fees, and costs assoeidgite initial Sarbanes-Oxley 404 compliance docatagon in
2004. The increase in employee related costs sgkfribm an increase in general and administragieged
headcount, particularly in the finance area to supgn increase in transactional processing dircreased
revenue. Employee headcount increased by 43% ¢orfidoyees as of December 31, 2005 as compared to
37 employees as of December 31, 2004. The decireast allocated overhead reflects the general and
administrative function’s slower headcount growdterrelative to other functional areas. Additiopasitock-based
compensation expense decreased $142,000 to $24@,00@ year ended December 31, 2005, from $3@1{60
the year ended December 31, 2004.

In-process research and development

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we exde® million for in-process research and develepm
related to intangible assets purchased in our aitgun of SkipJam. See Note 2 of the Notes to thagolidated
Financial Statements for additional informationarting the acquisition. In-process R&D is expengeadn an
acquisition because technological feasibility hashreen established and no future alternative esiss We
acquired only one in-process R&D project, whicheiated to the development of a multimedia prodiuat had not
reached technological feasibility and had no altéwe use. We incurred costs of approximately $7@3 to
complete the project, of which approximately $528,0vas incurred through December 31, 2006. We ceteglthe
project in February 2007.

Litigation reserves

During the year ended December 31, 2005, we redadellowance of $802,000 for the estimated aufsts
settlement for th&ilberman v. NETGEARwsuit. The lawsuit was settled on May 26, 200@&} ao material
additional costs were incurred. No litigation resarwere recorded in the year ended December 88, 20
Interest income and other income (expense)

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006

(In thousands'
Interest incom: $1,59: % 4,10¢  $6,97<
Other income (expense), r (560 (1,770 2,49t
Total interest income and other income (expe $1,03: $ 2,33¢  $9,46¢

Interest income represents amounts earned on shr cash equivalents and short-term investments.

Other income (expense), net, primarily represeaissgand losses on transactions denominated iigfore
currencies and other miscellaneous expenses.

Interest income increased $2.9 million, or 69.9847.0 million for the year ended December 31, 26@8n
$4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 200 increase in interest income was a result aherease in the
average interest rate earned.

Other income (expense), net, increased to incon$2 &f million for the year ended December 31, 26@8n
an expense of $1.8 million for the year ended Ddwr81, 2005. The income of $2.5 million was priilyar
attributable to a net foreign exchange gain expegd in the year ended December 31, 2006 due toghkening c
the U.S. dollar against the Euro, the Great Briaund, and the Australian Dollar. The expenseld $illion in
the year ended December 31, 2005 was primariljpatable to a net foreign exchange loss experiedcecto the
strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the EGi@at Britain Pound and the Australian Dollar.
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The aggregate of interest income, interest expemskpther expense amounted to net other income of
$2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2@@Bpared to net other income of $1.0 million fa $fear ended
December 31, 2004. This change was primarily dwntadditional $2.5 million in interest income tbe year
ended December 31, 2005, from the investment otasin, cash equivalents, and short-term investniatdasce
throughout the year. This was offset in part byremease in other expense of $1.2 million consgsgirimarily of
realized and unrealized losses associated witligioiirrency denominated transactions due in pacutrency
volatility during the year as well as our billing foreign currencies which began in the first gesadf 2005.

Provision for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes increased $7.0 milli@sulting in a provision of $27.9 million for thear ended
December 31, 2006, from a provision of $20.9 millfor the year ended December 31, 2005. The effetdix rate
was approximately 40% for the year ended DecembgeP@06 and approximately 38% for the year ended
December 31, 2005. The effective tax rate for lpattiods differed from our statutory rate of approately 35% du
to non-deductible stock-based compensation, statest other non-deductible expenses, and tax srddie
effective tax rate for the year ended DecembefB@6 was also impacted by non-deductible chargeaipimg to
in-process research and development as a resik @fcquisition of SkipJam.

Provision for income taxes increased $8.0 millimna provision of $20.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005, from a provision of $12.9 millfor the year ended December 31, 2004. The effetdix rate
for the year ended December 31, 2005 was approgiynd8% and differed from our statutory rate of myimately
35% due to state taxes, and other non-deductillereses, offset in part by tax credits. The effectax rate for the
year ended December 31, 2004 was approximately&@@¥differed from our statutory rate of approxinha®5%
due to non-deductible stock-based compensatiote, stees, and other non-deductible expenses, affgetrt by a
$1.5 million tax benefit from exercises of stockiops and tax credits.

Net Income

Net income increased $7.5 million, to $41.1 millfon the year ended December 31, 2006 from $33ligomi
for the year ended December 31, 2005. This increasedue to an increase in gross profit of $42ldaniand an
increase in interest and other income of $7.1 anillioffset by an increase in operating expens&846 million ant
an increase in provision for income taxes of $7illion.

Net income increased $10.1 million, to $33.6 millfor the year ended December 31, 2005 from $23IBm
for the year ended December 31, 2004. This increaseprimarily due to an increase in gross prdfit o
$28.9 million, offset by an increase in operatingenses of $12.0 million and an increase in prowigor income
taxes of $8.0 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of December 31, 2006 we had cash, cash equigad@d short-term investments totaling $197.5 onilli

Our cash and cash equivalents balance decreased80.0 million as of December 31, 2005 to $87.lfiani
as of December 31, 2006. Our short-term investmeritieh represent the investment of funds availédaleurrent
operations, increased from $83.7 million as of Dalger 31, 2005 to $109.7 million as of December2RD6.
Operating activities during the year ended Decer3tieP006 generated cash of $23.1 million primadiig to an
increase in net income. Investing activities duting year ended December 31, 2006 used $37.7 millibich
includes the net purchase of short-term investmefs®4.2 million, purchases of property and equépin
amounting to $5.9 million, and payments made imeation with our acquisition of SkipJam of $7.6Iroi.
During the year ended December 31, 2006, finanaatiyities provided $12.3 million, primarily resimy from the
issuance of our common stock upon exercise of stptibns and our employee stock purchase program.

Our days sales outstanding decreased from 77 days@ecember 31, 2005 to 66 days as of Decemher 31
2006.

Our accounts payable increased from $38.9 milliobecember 31, 2005 to $39.8 million at December 31
2006.
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Inventory increased by $26.0 million from $51.9lmit at December 31, 2005 to $77.9 million at Deben81
2006. Ending inventory turns decreased, from agprately 6.5 turns in the quarter ended Decembe3Q5, to
5.7 turns in the quarter ended December 31, 2006.

Based on our current plans and market conditiorshelieve that our existing cash, cash equivakemtsshort-
term investments will be sufficient to satisfy @nticipated cash requirements for the forseealtleduHowever,
we cannot be certain that our planned levels ofmae, costs and expenses will be achieved. If perating results
fail to meet our expectations or if we fail to mgaaur inventory, accounts receivable or othertasse could be
required to seek additional funding through publi@rivate financings or other arrangements. Intad as we
continue to expand our product offerings, chanaats geographic presence, we may require additisaoding
capital. In such event, adequate funds may notvaisadle when needed or may not be available oar&e or
commercially acceptable terms, which could havegative effect on our business and results of dpesa

Backlog

As of December 31, 2006, we had a backlog of apprately $42.7 million compared to approximately
$15.7 million as of December 31, 2005. Our backlogsists of products for which customer purchasersrhave
been received and which are scheduled or in theepsoof being scheduled for shipment. While we ebdquefulfill
the order backlog within the current year, moseosdre subject to rescheduling or cancellatioh iitite or no
penalties. Because of the possibility of custont@nges in product scheduling or order cancellabonbacklog as
of any particular date may not be an indicatoretfsales for any succeeding period.

Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arragements
Contractual Obligations

The following table describes our commitments ttles@on-cancelable lease and purchase commitnasni$
December 31, 2006.

Less Than More Than
Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years Total
(In thousands)
Operating leases $ 2,371 $ 2016 $105: $ 321« $ 8,65¢
Purchase obligations $ 55227 $§ — & — % —  $55,227

$ 57,59¢ $201¢ $1,055 $ 3214 $63,88:

We lease office space, cars and equipment undecaocelable operating leases with various expinatiates
through December 2026. Rent expense was $1.3 miltiothe year ended December 31, 2004, $1.5 miftio the
year ended December 31, 2005 and $2.2 millionHeryear ended December 31, 2006. The terms of ebthe
office leases provide for rental payments on agmetl scale. We recognize rent expense on a stiaighbasis
over the lease period, and have accrued for rgrdrese incurred but not paid. The amounts preseméedonsistent
with contractual terms and are not expected t@dgfgnificantly, unless a substantial change infrmadcount nee:
requires us to exit an office facility early or expl our occupied space.

We enter into various inventory-related purchase@gents with suppliers. Generally, under theseeagents,
50% of the orders are cancelable by giving noti&¢o460 days prior to the expected shipment dade2&&6 of
orders are cancelable by giving notice 31-45 daigs o the expected shipment date. Orders areamtelable
within 30 days prior to the expected shipment datddecember 31, 2006, we had $55.2 million in mamcelable
purchase commitments with suppliers.

As part of our acquisition of SkipJam, we agreegayp up to $1.4 million in cash contingent on thatued
employment of certain former SkipJam employees withThese payments will be recorded as compensatio
expense over a twgear period. During the year ended December 316,206 have recorded $486,000 of additic
compensation expense pursuant to this agreemehgxqect to pay up to $933,000 over the remairifegf this
agreement.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2006, we did not have any offfize sheet arrangements as defined in Item 3@3(i@)(
of SEC Regulation S-K.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Finand&tkSents for recent accounting pronouncements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Meet Risk

We do not use derivative financial instrumentsun iovestment portfolio. We have an investmentfotict of
fixed income securities that are classified as ilabe-for-sale securities.” These securities, ktefixed income
instruments, are subject to interest rate riskwaitidall in value if market interest rates increasVe attempt to limit
this exposure by investing primarily in short-tesaturities. Due to the short duration and conseevaiature of our
investment portfolio, a movement of 10% by marketiest rates would not have a material impactuwroperating
results and the total value of the portfolio oves hext fiscal year.

We are exposed to risks associated with foreighaxge rate fluctuations due to our international
manufacturing and sales activities. We generallyelraot hedged currency exposures. These exposaneshmange
over time as business practices evolve and cowdtively impact our operating results and financ@idition. In
the second quarter of 2005 we began to invoice sroar international customers in foreign curr@sancluding,
but not limited to, the Euro, Great Britain Pouddpanese Yen and the Australian dollar. As theomssts that are
currently invoiced in local currency become a langercentage of our business, or to the extenteginkto bill
additional customers in foreign currencies, theaoif fluctuations in foreign exchange rates cddde a more
significant impact on our results of operations: #hmwse customers in our international marketswmeatontinue to
sell to in U.S. dollars, an increase in the valtithe U.S. dollar relative to foreign currenciesicomake our
products more expensive and therefore reduce tinauie for our products. Such a decline in the dencatd
reduce sales and negatively impact our operatisigitse Certain operating expenses of our foreiggratons requir
payment in the local currencies. As of December2BDS, we had net assets in various local currengie
hypothetical 10% movement in foreign exchange ratasld result in an after tax positive or negafivgact of
$2.6 million to net income at December 31, 2006.
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Iltem 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and SupplementBigta

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Management of NETGEAR, Inc. is responsible for lglithing and maintaining adequate internal coraxar
financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-1&f)l 15(d)-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Ad984. The
Company’s internal control over financial reportisglesigned to provide reasonable assurance iiagdate
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacat of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with
generally accepted accounting principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or dete
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjechéorisk that
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance Withpolicies
or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participatioma@ihagement, including its principal executiveasfiand
principal financial officer, the Company assesseddffectiveness of its internal control over fic@ahreporting as
of December 31, 2006. In conducting its evaluatiba,Company used the criteria set forth inltiternal Control-
Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission.

Based on its evaluation and those criteria, manageooncluded that the Company maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of Bater 31, 2006. The Company'’s independent regdstarblic
accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, hakted management’s assessment of the Companyisatte
control over financial reporting as of December &106 as stated in their report which appears herei
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of NETGEAR, Inc.:

We have completed integrated audits of NETGEAR, drmonsolidated financial statements and of itsrimal
control over financial reporting as of December Z106 in accordance with the standards of the P@sdimpany
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Oumnapis, based on our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements and financial stement schedule

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the accompanying index appearing uitden 15
(@)(1) present fairly, in all material respectg fimancial position of NETGEAR, Inc. and its subaries at
December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, and shé#g®f their operations and their cash flowseach of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2006riformity with accounting principles generalycapted in
the United States of America. In addition, in opimion, the financial statement schedule appearidgr Item 15
(a)(2) presents fairly, in all material respedi® information set forth therein when read in caojion with the
related consolidated financial statements. Thesmtial statements and financial statement schedalthe
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupoesibility is to express an opinion on these fiiah
statements and financial statement schedule basedraaudits. We conducted our audits of thesestamts in
accordance with the standards of the Public Compacpunting Oversight Board (United States). Theisendards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finastatements are
free of material misstatement. An audit of finahsiatements includes examining, on a test bagiderce
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fiahstatements, assessing the accounting prirsciged and
significant estimates made by management, and avaduthe overall financial statement presentatie.believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis foopinion.

As discussed in Note 7 of the Notes to Consolid&iedncial Statements, in accordance with the aoiojoif
SFAS 123R, the Company changed the manner in vihédtounts for share-based compensation in thegresed
December 31, 2006.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment,dted in Management's Report on Internal ControltOve
Financial Reporting appearing under ltem 8, that@lompany maintained effective internal controlrdiancial
reporting as of December 31, 2006 based on crigstizblished imnternal Control — Integrated Frameworigsued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission (COSO), is fairly stated,linreaterial
respects, based on those criteria. Furthermomyrimpinion, the Company maintained, in all mategapects,
effective internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2006, based on criteria estaaliininternal
Control — Integrated Framewoiksued by the COSO. The Company’s managementpsmeible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reportiagd for its assessment of the effectiveness efnat control over
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to exgseopinions on managementssessment and on the effectivene
the Company’s internal control over financial reépay based on our audit. We conducted our audittefnal
control over financial reporting in accordance vilibe standards of the Public Company Accountingr€ght
Board (United States). Those standards requireatbailan and perform the audit to obtain reasonasdeirance
about whether effective internal control over fio@h reporting was maintained in all material retpeAn audit of
internal control over financial reporting includastaining an understanding of internal control dgancial
reporting, evaluating management’s assessmentdestd evaluating the design and operating effenss of
internal control, and performing such other procedwas we consider necessary in the circumstangebelieve
that our audit provides a reasonable basis foopinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesass
regarding the reliability of financial reportingathe preparation of financial statements for exaepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfeez A company’s internal control over finanaiaporting
includes those policies and procedures that (fapeto the maintenance of records that, in redsergetail,
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accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disgositions of the assets of the company; (iiyvjule reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as ngctsparmit preparation of financial statementa@cordance wit
generally accepted accounting principles, andréipts and expenditures of the company are breadg only in
accordance with authorizations of management anedtdirs of the company; and (iii) provide reasoaassurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitted acquisition, use, or disposition of the comps assets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or dete
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjecheorisk that
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance Withpolicies
or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LL

San Jose, California
March 1, 2007
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NETGEAR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2005

2006

(In thousands, except
share and per share data

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 90,00: $ 87,73¢
Shor-term investment 83,65¢ 109,72¢
Accounts receivable, n 104,26 119,60:
Inventories 51,87: 77,93
Deferred income taxe 11,50z 13,41t
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 9,40¢ 15,94¢
Total current asse 350,70¢ 424,35¢
Property and equipment, r 4,70z 6,56¢
Intangibles, ne — 97t
Goodwill 55¢ 3,80(
Other nol-current assel 32¢ 2,20z
Total asset $356,29°  $437,90:«
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 38,91 $ 39,81¢
Accrued employee compensati 7,745 11,80:
Other accrued liabilitie 66,27¢ 75,90¢
Deferred revenu 4,30¢ 8,21%
Income taxes payab 3,05¢ 7,73
Total current liabilities 120,29: 143,48
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder equity:
Preferred stock: $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shartsorized in 2005 and 2006; nong
outstanding in 2005 or 20( — —
Common stock: $0.001 par value; 200,000,000 shard®rized in 2005 and 2006;
shares issued and outstanding: 32,963,596 in 2003%,960,506 in 200 33 33
Additional paic-in capital 204,75 221,48
Deferred stoc-based compensatic (46¢) —
Cumulative other comprehensive Ic (90) 5)
Retained earning 31,77 72,90
Total stockholder equity 236,00 294,42;
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $356,29° $437,90«

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
(In thousands, except per share data)
Net revenue $383,13¢ $449,61( $573,57(
Cost of revenue(1 260,31¢ 297,91: 379,91.
Gross profit 122,82: 151,69¢ 193,65¢
Operating expense
Research and development 10,31¢ 12,831 18,44:
Sales and marketing( 62,24 71,34¢ 91,88:
General and administrative( 14,90¢ 14,55¢ 20,90¢
In-process research and developn — 2,90(C
Litigation reserve: — 802 —
Total operating expens 87,46¢ 99,54 134,12¢
Income from operatior 35,35: 52,15¢ 59,53(
Interest incom 1,59: 4,104 6,97¢
Other income (expense), r (560 (1,770 2,49t
Income before income tax 36,38¢ 54,49( 68,99¢
Provision for income taxe 12,92: 20,86 27,861
Net income $ 23,46 $ 33,62 $ 41,130
Net income per shar
Basic $ 077 $ 104 $ 1.2¢
Diluted $ 07z $ 09 $ 1.a¢
Weighted average shares outstanding used to comptitecome per shar
Basic 30,44 32,35 33,38
Diluted 32,62¢ 33,93¢ 34,55
(1) Stocl-based compensation expense was allocated as fo
Cost of revenu $ 165 $ 147 $ 43cC
Research and developm 40C 29:¢ 1,11¢
Sales and marketir 733 37t 1,40t
General and administratiy 391 24¢ 1,551

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balance at December 31, 2C
Comprehensive incom

Net income
Total comprehensive incon

Reversal of deferred stock-based
compensatiol

Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006

Cumulative Retained
Additional Deferred Other Earnings
Common Stock Paid-in Stock-Based Comprehensive (Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital Compensatior Income (Loss) Deficit) Total

(In thousands, except share date

Amortization of deferred stock-based

compensatiol
Exercise of common stock optio
Issuance of common stock under
stock purchase ple

Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic — —

Balance at December 31, 2C
Comprehensive incom

Unrealized loss on sh-term investment — — — —

Net income
Total comprehensive incon

Reversal of deferred stock-based

compensatiol

Amortization of deferred stock-based

compensatiol
Exercise of common stock optio
Issuance of common stock under
stock purchase ple

Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic — —

Balance at December 31, 2C
Comprehensive incom

Net income
Total comprehensive incon
Reversal of deferred stock-based
compensatiol
Stock-based compensation expel
Exercise of common stock optio
Issuance of common stock under
stock purchase ple

Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic — —

Balance at December 31, 2C

28,618,96 28 164,45¢ (4,249 13 (25,317 134,93¢
Unrealized loss on shrterm investment — — — — (20 — (20
— — — — — 23,46 23,46t
— — — — — — 23,44t
— — (67¢) 67¢ — — —
— — — 1,68¢ — — 1,68¢
2,796,42 3  12,96¢ — — —  12,96¢
employe:
39,217 — 381 — — — 381
11,77% — — — 11,77:
31,454,61 31 188,90( (1,882) (7) (1,84¢) 185,19«
(83) — (83)
— — — — — 33,62¢ 33,62
— — — — — — _ 33,54(
— — (350 35C — — —
— — — 1,064 — — 1,064
1,422,12: 2 8,101 — — — 8,10:
employe:
86,85¢ — 1,002 — — — 1,00z
7,101 — — — 7,101
32,963,59 33 204,75 (46¢) (90) 31,77t 236,00«
Unrealized gain on sh«-term investment — — — — 85 — 85
— — — — — 41,13:  41,13:
— — — — — — 41217
— — (46%) 46¢ — — —
— — 4,50¢ — — — 4,50t
932,92¢ — 7,43: — — — 7,43
employe:
63,98: — 1,10(C — — — 1,10(
4,16: — — — 4,162
33,960,50 $ 33 $221,48° $ — $ (5% 72,907 $294,42.

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 23468 $ 33,621 $ 41,13
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,59 3,06¢ 7,07¢
Amortization (accretion) of investment purchasemtens (discounts 21C (1,379 (1,83%)
Non-cash stoc-based compensatic 1,68¢ 1,064 4,50¢
Income tax benefit associated with stock optiorr@zes 11,77: 7,101 4,16:
Excess tax benefit from stc-based compensatic — (3,806
Deferred income taxe (2,419 (35€) (3,2572)
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effe@anfuisition:
Accounts receivabl (8,037) (22,06¢€) (15,339
Inventories (14,29) 1,68¢ (26,059
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (2,4972) (1,35¢) (6,582)
Accounts payabl 21,85( (13,83() 90¢€
Accrued employee compensati 1,66: 2,20¢ 4,06(
Other accrued liabilitie 19,66 15,31 9,491
Deferred revenu (237) 2,16( 3,911
Income taxes payab 1,89/ (6049 4,682
Net cash provided by operating activit 57,325 26,63¢ 23,06¢
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of shi-term investment (451,287) (124,47) (173,19)
Proceeds from maturities of sk-term investment 420,49: 117,87: 149,03¢
Purchase of property and equipm (2,54¢€) (4,199 (5,919
Payments made in connection with business acan — — (7,600
Net cash used in investing activiti (33,339 (10,799 (37,677)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock optir 12,96¢ 8,10z 7,43:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under eraplstock purchase
plan 381 1,002 1,10(
Excess tax benefit from stc-based compensatic — — 3,80¢
Net cash provided by financing activiti 13,34¢ 9,10¢ 12,33¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 37,33 24,95( (2,26€)
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of pe 27,71 65,05: 90,00:
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of pe $ 6505 $ 90,00 $ 87,73¢
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for income tax $ 3,297 $ 14,728 $ 22,28¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — The Company and Summary of Significant Aaunting Policies:
The Company

NETGEAR, Inc. (“NETGEAR” or the “Company”) was inqgmrated in Delaware in January 1996. The
Company designs, develops and markets networkiodugts for small business, which the Company defasea
business with fewer than 250 employees, and homies Lihe Company focuses on satisfying the
ease-of-use, quality, reliability, performance affordability requirements of these users. The Camyfs product
offerings enable users to share Internet accesphgeals, files, digital multimedia content anghgations among
multiple personal computers, or PCs, and otherneteenabled devices. The Company sells produatsapity
through a global sales channel network, which idetutraditional retailers, online retailers, dinearket resellers,
or DMRs, value added resellers, or VARs, and braadtservice providers.

Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemientade the accounts of the Company and its whmiiyec
subsidiaries. All inter-company accounts and tratisas have been eliminated in the consolidatiothese
subsidiaries. Certain reclassifications have beadento prior period reported amounts to conforroutwent year
presentation.

Fiscal periods

The Company’s fiscal year begins on January 1ef/tdar stated and ends on December 31 of the saane y
The Company reports its results on a fiscal quédnasis rather than on a calendar quarter basiseitthd fiscal
quarter basis, each of the first three fiscal grarénds on the Sunday closest to the calendateqesd, with the
fourth quarter ending on December 31.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conféymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia
United States of America requires management tceregkmates and assumptions that affect the repanwunts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of corgimgassets and liabilities at the date of the fir@rstatements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expensegdhsaireported period. Actual results could diffem those
estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenith a maturity at the time of purchase of threanths or
less to be cash equivalents. The Company depesitsand cash equivalents with high credit quaiitsricial
institutions.

Short-term investments

Short-term investments comprise marketable seesriliat consist of government securities with agiral
maturity or a remaining maturity at the time of ghase, of greater than three months and less wedvet months.
All marketable securities are held in the Compamgme with two high quality financial institutionsho act as the
Company’s custodians and investment managers fAleoCompany’s marketable securities are clasbidie
available-for-sale securities in accordance withghovisions of Statement of Financial Accountitgr@ards
(“SFAS”) No. 115, “Accounting For Certain Investnigiin Debt and Equity Securities” and are carriefhia value
with unrealized gains and losses reported as aatepeomponent of stockholders’ equity.
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NETGEAR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Certain risks and uncertainties

The Company’s products are concentrated in thear&tag industry, which is characterized by rapid
technological advances, changes in customer regaits and evolving regulatory requirements andstigiu
standards. The success of the Company dependsragaraent’s ability to anticipate and/or to respquitkly and
adequately to technological developments in itsigtiy, changes in customer requirements, or chaingegulatory
requirements or industry standards. Any significhalalys in the development or introduction of pretdicould hawvi
a material adverse effect on the Company’s busiaedperating results.

The Company relies on a limited number of thirdtiparto manufacture all of its products. If anythod
Company’s third party manufacturers cannot or mat manufacture its products in required volumesa @ost-
effective basis, in a timely manner, or at all, @@mpany will have to secure additional manufaomdapacity. An
interruption or delay in manufacturing could haveaterial adverse effect on the Companiyusiness and operati
results.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject@@mpany to a concentration of credit risk consistash and
cash equivalents, short-term investments and atsoeceivable. The Company believes that therengmal credit
risk associated with the investment of its cashe@agh equivalents and short-term investments, @tigethigh
quality financial institutions which manage the Gmany'’s investments, and the restrictions placethertype of
investment that can be entered into under the Copipinvestment policy.

The Company’s customers are primarily distributsavell as retailers and broadband service provigdéo
sell the products to a large group of end-users.Gbmpany maintains an allowance for doubtful antotor
estimated losses resulting from the inability & @ompany’s customers to make required payments Climpany
regularly performs credit evaluations of the Compsiustomers’ financial condition and considerstdas such as
historical experience, credit quality, age of theaunts receivable balances, and geographic ortigespecific risks
and economic conditions that may affect customegity to pay, and, generally, requires no collatérom its
customers.

The following table summarizes the percentage ®@Gbmpany’s total accounts receivable represented b
customers with balances in excess of 10% of itd sitcounts receivable as of December 31, 20026606.

December 31,

2005 2006
Ingram Micro, Inc. 21% 12%
Tech Data Corporatio 15% 12%
Best Buy Co., Inc. 17% 15%

Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financialrinaents, including cash and cash equivalents,uattso
receivable, prepaid expenses, accounts payablejeatemployee compensation and other accrueditiebil
approximate their fair values due to their shorturities. See Note 3 for disclosures regardingfaliirevalue of the
Company’s short-term investments.

Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of finished goods ethiare valued at the lower of cost or market, wikt being
determined using the first-in, first-out method eT@ompany writes down its inventories based omedéd excess
and obsolete inventories determined primarily kiyfel demand forecasts. At the point of loss redégmia new,
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NETGEAR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

lower cost basis for that inventory is establistead] subsequent changes in facts and circumstdoaast result in
the restoration or increase in that newly estabtistost basis.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historicd| tess accumulated depreciation. Depreciatiomisputed
using the straight-line method over the estimatezful lives of the assets as follows:

Computer equipmet 2 year
Furniture and fixture 5 year:
Software 2-5 year:
Machinery and equipme 1-3 year:
Leasehold improvemen Shorter of the lease term or 5 ye

The Company accounts for impairment of property equipment in accordance with SFAS No. 144
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lohgred Assets.” Recoverability of assets to be laid used is
measured by comparing the carrying amount of aet#asghe estimated undiscounted future cash flewpected to
be generated by the asset. If the carrying amduthiecasset exceeds its estimated undiscountectefogt cash
flows, an impairment charge is recognized by thewmh by which the carrying amount of the asset edsehe fair
value of the asset. The carrying value of the @sgsewviewed on a regular basis for the existeridaats, both
internal and external, that may suggest impairniEme. Company did not recognize impairment chargesy of
the periods presented.

Goodwill and intangibles

The Company applies SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill andedtintangible Assets” and performs an annual gothdwi
impairment test. For purposes of impairment testing Company has determined that it has only eperting unit.
The identification and measurement of goodwill ifnpeent involves the estimation of the fair valuelod
Company. The estimates of fair value of the Commmeybased on the best information available diseoflate of
the assessment, which primarily includes the Cowyiganarket capitalization and incorporates managgme
assumptions about expected future cash flows.

Purchased intangible assets with finite lives aneréized using the straight-line method over tharested
economic lives of the assets, which range fromttwimur years. Purchased intangible assets detedimhave
indefinite useful lives are not amortized. Deteration of recoverability is based on an estimateraiscounted
future cash flows resulting from the use of theeasd its eventual disposition. Measurement afrgrairment loss
for long-lived assets that management expectsltbdral use is based on the fair value of the akeeg-lived
assets to be disposed of are reported at the lofnerrying amount or fair value less costs to. Seile carrying
value of the asset is reviewed on a regular basithé existence of facts, both internal and extiethat may sugge
impairment.

Product warranties

The Company provides for estimated future warraffygations at the time revenue is recognized. The
Company’s standard warranty obligation to its di@estomers generally provides for a right of retaf any
product for a full refund in the event that suchdarct is not merchantable or is found to be damagetkfective. A
the time revenue is recognized, an estimate ofduttarranty returns is recorded to reduce reventlee amount of
the expected credit or refund to be provided tdliitsct customers. At the time the Company rectirdgeduction t
revenue related to warranty returns, the Compaciydies within cost of revenue a write-down to restie
carrying value of such products to net realizalalie®. The Company’s standard warranty obligatioitstend-users
provides for repair or replacement of a defectinedpct for one or more years. Factors that affeettarranty
obligation include product failure rates, matetiashge, and service delivery costs incurred in cting product
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failures. The estimated cost associated with firl§lthe Company’s warranty obligation to end-ugenecorded in
cost of revenue. Because the Company’s productsianeifactured by contract manufacturers, in ceases the
Company has recourse to the contract manufactoreeplacement or credit for the defective produtte
Company gives consideration to amounts recovefatuhe its contract manufacturers in determiningatsranty
liability. Changes in the Company’s warranty li#ilyil which is included as a component of “Otherraed
liabilities” in the consolidated balance sheets, @s follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2005 2006
Balance as of beginning of ye $10,76¢ $ 11,84¢
Provision for warranty liability made during theayt 25,087 45,45¢
Settlements made during the y: (24,009 (36,00°5)
Balance at end of ye $11,84F $21,29¢

Revenue recognition

Revenue from product sales is recognized at the tiva product is shipped provided that persuasidence o
an arrangement exists, title and risk of loss hassfterred to the customer, the selling pricexedior determinable
and collection of the related receivable is reabbnassured. Currently, for some of the Companystamers, title
passes to the customer upon delivery to the parbontry of destination, upon their receipt of greduct, or upon
the customer’s resale of the product. At the enelaah fiscal quarter, the Company estimates aretslefvenue
related to product where title has not transferfidek revenue continues to be deferred until sunk that title
passes to the customer.

In addition to warrantyelated returns, certain distributors and retaigmserally have the right to return proc
for stock rotation purposes. Every quarter, stat&tion rights are generally limited to 10% of iiexd sales to the
distributor or retailer in the prior quarter. Upsinipment of the product, the Company reduces revéman
estimate of potential future product warranty atuttls rotation returns related to the current pepoaduct revenue.
Management analyzes historical returns, channelntory levels, current economic trends and chaimgesstomer
demand for the Company’s products when evaluatirgatiequacy of the allowance for sales returnselyam
warranty and stock rotation returns. Revenue oprsénts is also reduced for estimated price pratecind sales
incentives deemed to be contra-revenue under Entetgsues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 01-9.

Sales incentives

Sales incentives provided to customers are accddaten accordance with EITF Issue No. 01-9, “Agnting
for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a CustomidReseller of the Vendor’s Products”. Under thesielglines,
the Company accrues for sales incentives as a tiraglexpense if it receives an identifiable beniefiexchange ar
can reasonably estimate the fair value of the ifleble benefit received; otherwise, it is recorageda reduction to
revenues. As a consequence, the Company recoudstastial portion of its channel marketing costasaeduction
of revenue.

The Company records estimated reductions to rewsfanesales incentives at the later of when thateel
revenue is recognized or when the program is affese¢he customer or end consumer.
Shipping and handling fees and costs

In September 2000, the EITF issued EITF Issue Rdl@ “Accounting for Shipping and Handling Feed an
Costs.” EITF Issue No. 00-10 requires shipping laawdling fees billed to customers to be classifisdevenue and
shipping and handling costs to be either class#i®dost of revenue or disclosed in the notesgd@dimsolidated
financial statements. The Company includes shippimdjhandling fees billed to customers in net raeen
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Shipping and handling costs associated with inbdteight are included in cost of revenue. In caghsre the
Company gives a freight allowance to the custoraettfeir own inbound freight costs, such costsaggropriately
recorded as a reduction in net revenue. Shippiddhandling costs associated with outbound freightrecluded in
sales and marketing expenses and totaled $6.4mi#6.7 million and $8.3 million in the years edde
December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 respectively.

Research and development

Costs incurred in the research and developmentwfproducts are charged to expense as incurred.

Advertising costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Totaddising and promotional expenses were $11.9anill
$14.5 million and $15.3 million in the years end®etember 31, 2004, 2005 and 20086, respectively.

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under am asddiability approach. Under this method, incaiae
expense is recognized for the amount of taxes payabrefundable for the current year. In additideferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the ebgueftiture tax consequences of temporary differ@nesulting from
different treatments for tax versus accountingestain items, such as accruals and allowancesunatrntly
deductible for tax purposes. These differencedtresdeferred tax assets and liabilities, which arcluded within
the consolidated balance sheet. The Company mestatssess the likelihood that the Company’s defdéee assets
will be recovered from future taxable income anthi® extent the Company believes that recovergtisnore likely
than not, the Company must establish a valuatiomvahce.

The Company assesses the probability of adversemeéts from tax examinations regularly to deterntiree
adequacy of the Company’s income tax liabilitythé Company ultimately determines that paymenhe$é
amounts is unnecessary, the Company reversesatiktyi and recognizes a tax benefit during thequkin which
the Company determines that the liability is noglennecessary. The Company records an additiomagjehin the
Company’s provision for taxes in the period in whtbhe Company determines that the recorded taititiais less
than the Company expects the ultimate assessméat to

Computation of net income per share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividietgincome by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding for the period. Diluted netineger share reflects the additional dilution frootential
issuances of common stock, such as stock issuabdeignt to the exercise of stock options and aw&aentially
dilutive shares are excluded from the computatiodilated net income per share when their effeetris-dilutive.

Stock-based compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adoptedainealue recognition provisions of SFAS No. 128vised
2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R"), usheymodified prospective transition method and tloeechas
not restated results for prior periods. Under ti@ssition method, stock-based compensation exgenslee year
ended December 31, 2006 includes compensation sggenall stock-based compensation awards gramtedto,
but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, baseldeogrant date fair value estimated in accordarittetive original
provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stockd®d Compensation” (“SFAS 123"). Stock-based
compensation expense for all stock-based compensatvards granted on or after January 1, 2006sischan the
grant-date fair value estimated in accordance thighprovisions of SFAS 123R. The valuation provisiof
SFAS 123R also apply to grants that are modifiéer a@fanuary 1, 2006. The Company recognizes these
compensation costs on a straight-line basis owerdfuisite service period of the award, whicheisagally
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the option vesting term of four years. Prior to sii®ption of SFAS 123R, the Company recognizeckshased
compensation expense in accordance with Accoumtimgiples Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accoungrfor
Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”). In March 80the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “pEC
issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 (“SAB 1Q#&garding the SEC’s interpretation of SFAS 128H the
valuation of share-based payments for public conggamhe Company has applied the provisions of 38Bin its
adoption of SFAS 123R. See Note 7 for a furthecudision on stock-based compensation.

Comprehensive income

Under SFAS 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Incontee”€ompany is required to display comprehensive
income and its components as part of the finarstédements. The Company has displayed its compsateen
income as part of the Consolidated Statementsawk8blders’ Equity.

Foreign currency translation

The Company’s functional currency is the U.S. ddibe all of its international subsidiaries. Foneigurrency
transactions of international subsidiaries are ssueed into U.S. dollars at the end-of-period ergeaates for
monetary assets and liabilities, and historicahexge rates for nonmonetary assets. Expensesmeasared at
average exchange rates in effect during each pexiadpt for expenses related to non-monetaryssshich are
remeasured at historical exchange rates. Revememisasured at the daily rate in effect as of #ie the order
ships. Gains and losses arising from foreign cugréransactions are included in net income and wetdosses of
$560,000 and $1.8 million for the years ended Ddxsr81, 2004 and 2005, respectively, and a netafain
$2.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standardsr8¢‘FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48,
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — ateirpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48ihich
clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in incotag positions. FIN 48 prescribes a recognitionghodd and
measurement attribute for the financial statemeobgnition and measurement of a tax position takeaxpected t
be taken, on a tax return. This Interpretation alswvides guidance on derecognition, classificatioterest,
penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclesamd transition. The evaluation of a tax positioaccordance wi
this Interpretation is a two-step process. The §itsp will determine if it is more likely than nibiat a tax position
will be sustained upon examination and should foeeebe recognized. The second step will measta® position
that meets the more likely than not recognitiors$hiold to determine the amount of benefit to remgim the
financial statements. FIN 48 is effective for fisgaars beginning after December 15, 2006. The Guyjis
currently evaluating the impact of adopting FINat8the consolidated financial statements.

In June 2006, the EITF reached a consensus on IE§TiE No. 06-3, “How Taxes Collected from Customers
and Remitted to Governmental Authorities ShouldPBesented in the Income Statement (That Is, Greisus Net
Presentation)”. EITF Issue No. 06-3 provides thatfiresentation of taxes assessed by a governnaentialrity that
is directly imposed on a revenue-producing transadietween a seller and a customer on either ssdvasis
(included in revenues and costs) or on a net ljeas@duded from revenues) is an accounting poligisien that
should be disclosed. EITF Issue No. 06-3 is effectdr fiscal years beginning after December 19820 he
Company is currently evaluating the impact of ad@pEITF Issue No. 06-3 on the consolidated finahci
statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 1540y Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157”), which defines
fair value, establishes guidelines for measurimgvialue, and expands disclosures regarding fdireva
measurements. SFAS 157 does not require any newaiaie measurements but rather eliminates inctamgiges in
guidance found in various prior accounting pron@ments. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beigig after
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November 15, 2007. The Company is currently evalgahe impact of adopting SFAS 157 on the constéid
financial statements.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff AccourBinetin No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Pridear
Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements inr€htrYear Financial Statements” (“SAB 108”). SAB310
requires that registrants quantify errors usindntaobalance sheet and income statement approadcvahste
whether either approach results in a misstated atrtbat, when all relevant quantitative and quéaliafactors are
considered, is material. SAB 108 is effective iscél years ending after November 15, 2006, andchdichave a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated fongrstatements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159¢"“FFhir Value Option for Financial Assets and Firainc
Liabilities” (“SFAS 159”). SFAS 159 permits entiti¢o choose to measure many financial assets aaddial
liabilities at fair value. Unrealized gains anddes on items for which the fair value option haasrbelected are
reported in earnings. SFAS 159 is effective fordisyears beginning after November 15, 2007. Thea@my is
currently assessing the impact of SFAS 159 on ¢timsaidated financial statements.

Note 2 — Business Acquisition:

On August 1, 2006, the Company completed the aitiguiof SkipJam Corp. (“SkipJam”), a developer of
networkable media devices for home entertainmeditcantrol. The Company believes the acquisitioragcks its
strategically important digital home entertainmand control business by strengthening the Compaahjliy to
expand its multimedia product portfolio. The ag@tegpurchase price was $7.6 million, paid in cash.

The results of SkipJam'operations have been included in the consolidatadcial statements since the dat
acquisition. The historical results of SkipJam ptithe acquisition were not material to the Comyparesults of
operations.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemmfitsct total consideration of approximately $7.iflion,
consisting of cash, and other costs directly relédethe acquisition as follows (in thousands):

Purchase pric $7,60(
Direct acquisition cost 13z
Total consideratiol $7,73:

In accordance with the purchase method of accogintire Company allocated the total purchase poce t
tangible assets, liabilities and identifiable irgdote assets based on their estimated fair vallles.excess of
purchase price over the aggregate fair values a@sded as goodwill. The fair values assigned ¢atifiable
intangible assets acquired were estimated witlagdiséstance of an independent valuation firm. Pwethéantangible
are amortized on a straiglite basis over their respective useful lives. Tdtal allocation of the purchase price is
follows (in thousands):

Fair Value on
August 1, 200¢

Prepaid expenses and other current a: $ 6
Intangibles 4,00(
Goodwill 3,24:
Non-current deferred income tax 484

Total purchase price allocatis $ 7,73

$2.9 million of the $4.0 million in acquired intabte assets was designated as in-process resaaich a
development (“in-process R&D"). In-process R&D igpensed upon an acquisition because technologiaallility
has not been established and no future alternasige exist. The Company acquired only one in-pgces
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R&D project, which is related to the developmenaahultimedia product that had not reached techyicédd
feasibility and had no alternative use.

The fair value assigned to in-process R&D was daterd using the income approach, under which the
Company considered the importance of products udeezlopment to the Company’s overall developméang
estimated the costs to develop the purchased itepsoR&D into commercially viable products, estisdathe
resulting net cash flows from the products when gieted and discounted the net cash flows to tiresent values.
The Company used a discount rate of 35% in theepteslue calculations, which was derived from &ivied-
average cost of capital analysis, adjusted toceéidditional risks related to the products’ depetent and success
as well as the products’ stage of completion. Tterates used in valuing in-process R&D were bagemh
assumptions believed to be reasonable but whiclhegently uncertain and unpredictable. Theseraptans may
be incomplete or inaccurate, and unanticipatedtevaamd circumstances may occur. Accordingly, acesillts may
vary from the projected results. The Company iredicosts of approximately $725,000 to completeptbgect, of
which approximately $575,000 was incurred througit&nber 31, 2006. The Company completed the prioject
February 2007.

$1.0 million of the $4.0 million in acquired intabte assets was designated as core technologywdalbe was
calculated based on the present value of the fgstimated cash flows derived from estimated rgysdizings
attributable to the core technology. This $1.0ianllwill be amortized over its four year usefuelif

The remaining acquired intangible assets consisbofcompetition agreements of $100,000, with ayear
useful life. None of the goodwill recorded as prthe SkipJam acquisition will be deductible focome tax
purposes.

Of the $1.1 million in total intangibles subjectamortization, $125,000 was expensed by the Competie
year ended December 31, 20

As part of the acquisition, the Company has alseedjto pay up to $1.4 million in cash contingemtloe
continued employment of certain SkipJam employei#s tve Company. These payments will be recorded as
compensation expense over a two-year period. Duhiegyear ended December 31, 2006, the Companydexto
$486,000 of additional compensation expense putgadhis agreement.

Note 3 — Balance Sheet Components (in thousands):
Available-for-sale short-term investments consisttioe following:

December 31,

2005 2006
Unrealized Estimated Unrealized Estimated
Cost Loss Fair Value Cost Loss Fair Value
Government Securitie $83,74¢  $(90) $83,65¢ $109,73: $05)  $109,72
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Accounts receivable and related allowances consfghe following:

December 31,

2005 2006
Gross accounts receivat $113,00!  $132,65:
Less: Allowance for doubtful accour (1,295 (1,729

Allowance for sales returr (5,985 (8,129

Allowance for price protectio (1,456 (3,199

Total allowance! (8,736 (13,050)
Accounts receivable, n $104,26¢  $119,60:

Inventories consist of the following:

December 31,
2005 2006

Finished good $51,87:  $77,93:

Property and equipment, net, consists of the foliow:

December 31

2005 2006

Computer equipmer $ 451« $ 6,101
Furniture, fixtures and leasehold improveme 1,40 2,15C
Software 4,52: 6,80¢
Machinery 4,17¢ 5,64¢
Construction in progres 1,09( 554

15,70¢ 21,25¢
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortiza (11,006 (14,689

$ 4702 $ 6,56¢

Depreciation and amortization expense pertainingéperty and equipment in 2004, 2005 and 2006%2&8 million,
$3.1 million and $4.0 million, respectively.

Other accrued liabilities consist of the following:

December 31,

2005 2006

Sales and marketing progral $39,12¢  $38,05¢
Warranty obligatior 11,84¢ 21,29¢
Freight 5,81¢ 4,07:
Other 9,49/ 12,47¢
Other accrued liabilitie $66,27¢  $75,90¢

Note 4 — Net Income Per Share:

Basic Earnings Per Share (“EPS”) is computed bidalig net income (numerator) by the weighted avenagmber of
common shares outstanding (denominator) duringéhi®d. Basic EPS excludes the dilutive effect of
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stock options. Diluted EPS gives effect to all thla potential common shares outstanding duringotiréod. In
computing diluted EPS, the average stock pricéHfemperiod is used in determining the number ofeshassumed
be purchased using the proceeds from the assuneecisxof stock options.

Potentially dilutive common shares include outstagatock options and unvested restricted stockdsya
which are reflected in diluted earnings per sharagplication of the treasury stock method. Undlertteasury
stock method, the amount that the employee musigrasxercising stock options, the amount of stbeked
compensation cost for future services that the Gomphas not yet recognized, and the amount of ¢aefit that
would be recorded in additional paid-in capital ngxercise are assumed to be used to repurchass sha

Net income per share for the years ended Decenmh@084, 2005 and 2006 are as follows (in thousands
except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
Net income $23,46f $33,620 $41,13:
Weighted average shares outstand

Basic 30,44 32,35 33,38:
Options and awarc 2,18t 1,58¢ 1,172
Total diluted 32,62¢ 33,93¢ 34,55
Basic net income per she $ 077 $ 1.04 $ 1.2¢
Diluted net income per sha $ 072 $ 09¢ §$ 1.1c¢

Anti-dilutive common stock options totalling 416(28.31,560 and 675,953 were excluded from the wedyh
average shares outstanding for the diluted peestaculation for 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively

Note 5 — Income Taxes:
Income before income taxes consists of the follgwin thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
United State: $32,74: $50,127 $52,50:
International 3,64: 4,36¢ 16,49¢
Total $36,38¢ $54,49( $68,99¢

55




Table of Contents

NETGEAR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

The provision for income taxes consists of theofwlhg (in thousands):

Current:
U.S. Federa
State
Foreign

Deferred:
U.S. Federa
State
Foreign

Total

Net deferred tax assets consist of the followingtiousands):

Deferred Tax Assets:
Accruals and allowance
Net operating loss carryforwar

Depreciatior

Stocl-based compensatic

Other

Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Acquired intangible asse
Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiar

Net deferred tax asse

Current portior
Non-current portior

Net deferred tax asse

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
$13,11( $16,76¢ $21,36:
1,197  2,79¢  2,96¢
1,03: 1,65¢  6,71¢
15,34 21,22  31,04¢
(2,427) (860) (780)
8 504 10C
— — (2,499
(2,419 (356 (3,179
$12,92: $20,867 $27,86:

December 31
2005 2006

$11,50:  $13,30:
— 85¢

32€ 801

— 89¢

— 112
11,83: 15,97

— (395)

— (11)

— (40€)
$11,83:  $15,56¢
$11,50: $13,41¢
32¢ 2,157
$11,83:  $15,56¢

Management’s judgment is required in determinirg@mmpany’s provision for income taxes, its defetex
assets and any valuation allowance recorded agtrdtferred tax assets. In management’s judgih&nmore
likely than not that such assets will be realizethie future as of December 31, 2006, and as soiefalnation

allowance has been recorded against the Compaefésrdd tax assets.
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The effective tax rate differs from the applicablé&. statutory federal income tax rate as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,
2004 2005 2006

Tax at federal statutory ra 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State, net of federal bene 2.3 3.t 2.8
Stocl-based compensatic 2.3 0.C 0.8
In-process research and developr 0.C 0.C 1.4
Tax credits (2.3 (0.6) (0.6
Permanent and other iter 2.8 0.4 1.C
Provision for income taxe 35.5% 38.9% 40.4%

Income tax benefits in the amount of $11.8 milli$@d,1 million and $4.2 million related to the exsecof stoct
options were credited to additional paid-in capitating the years ended December 31, 2004, 2002060@,
respectively.

The Company has $2.5 million of acquired federalaperating losses from its acquisition of SkipJesrof
December 31, 2006. Use of these losses is subjertrtual limitation under Internal Revenue Cod€iSe@82.
These losses expire in different years beginnirfgsgal 2023.

Note 6 — Commitments and Contingencies:
Litigation and Other Legal Matters

In June 2004, a lawsuit, entitled Zilberman v. NEEAR, Civil Action CV021230, was filed against the
Company in the Superior Court of California, Couofysanta Clara. The complaint purported to beaaschction o
behalf of all persons or entities in the Unitedt&avho purchased the Company’s wireless prodtiees than for
resale. Plaintiff alleged that the Company madesfa¢presentations concerning the data transfedsps its
wireless products when used in typical operatinguenstances, and requested injunctive relief, payroe
restitution and reasonable attorney fees. Simalasuits were filed against other companies withaindustry. In
November 2005, without admitting any wrongdoingimation of law and to avoid the distraction anghense o
continued litigation, the Company and the Plain#f€eived preliminary court approval for a proposetilement.

Under the terms of the settlement, the Companggied each eligible class member a promotiona eddch
may be used to purchase a new wireless producttiier@ompany’s online store, www.buynetgear.cona, B5%
discount during the redemption period; (ii) inclddedisclaimer regarding wireless signal rateshenGompany’s
wireless products packaging and user’'s manualsrati Company’s press releases and advertisingaference
wireless signal rates; (iii) donated $25,000 wartthe Company’s products to a local, not-for-profiaritable
organization to be chosen by the Company; anda@iveéed to pay, subject to court approval, up tdFXD in
attorneys’ fees and costs.

In March 2006, the Company received final courtrapgl for the proposed settlement. On May 26, 2006,
proposed settlement became final and binding. Tdragany recorded a charge of $802,000 relatingisopttopose:
settlement during the year ended December 31, 2005.

NETGEAR v. CSIRO

In May 2005, the Company filed a complaint for deatory relief against the Commonwealth Scientficl
Industrial Research Organization (CSIRO), in the $@se division of the United States District Cpohiirthern
District of California. The complaint alleges thiaé claims of CSIRO’s U.S. Patent No. 5,487,069 @ralid and
not infringed by any of the Company’s products. RSIhad asserted that the Company’s wireless netmgrk
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products implementing the IEEE 802.11a and 802ulitgless LAN standards infringe its patent. In J2006,
United States Court of Appeals for the Federal @iraffirmed the District Court’s decision to de@BIRO’s
motion to dismiss the action under the Foreign Sigae Immunities Act. CSIRO has filed a petitiortiwihe
Federal Circuit requesting a rehearing en bancs @tiion is in the preliminary motion stages andriad date has
been set.

SercoNet v. NETGEAR

In May 2006, a lawsuit was filed against the Conyplay SercoNet, Ltd., a manufacturer of computer
networking products organized under the laws @fdkrin the United States District Court for theu@rn District
of New York. SercoNet alleges that the Companyingis U.S. Patents Nos. 5,841,360; 6,480,510; 3880
7,016,368; and 7,035,280. SercoNet has accusedrceftthe Company’s switches, routers, modemspteds,
powerline products, and wireless access pointsfahgement. In July 2006, the court granted thenBany’s
motion to transfer the action to the Northern Distof California. This action is in the preliminamotion stages ai
no trial date has been set.

These claims against the Company, or filed by tom@any, whether meritorious or not, could be time
consuming, result in costly litigation, requirerficant amounts of management time, and resuhéndiversion of
significant operational resources. Were an unfaverautcome to occur, there exists the possibilityould have a
material adverse impact on the Company’s finarmiaition and results of operations for the period/hich the
unfavorable outcome occurs or becomes probabkeddition, the Company is subject to legal procegslielaims
and litigation arising in the ordinary course oslmess, including litigation related to intelledtpeoperty and
employment matters.

While the outcome of these matters is currentlydaterminable, the Company does not expect thailtimeate
costs to resolve these matters will have a matadeatrse effect on the Company’s consolidated &imduposition,
results of operations or cash flows.

Environmental Regulation

The European Union (“EUhas enacted the Waste Electrical and Electroni¢gpgiuent Directive, which maki
producers of electrical goods, including home amdlsbusiness networking products, financially i@sgible for
specified collection, recycling, treatment and disgd of past and future covered products. The deattr the
individual member states of the EU to enact thedlive in their respective countries was August2Zl®)4 (such
legislation, together with the directive, the “WEEEgislation”). Producers participating in the metrkre
financially responsible for implementing these msgibilities under the WEEE Legislation beginningAiugust
2005. Similar WEEE Legislation has been or mayriscted in other jurisdictions, including in the téui States,
Canada, Mexico, China and Japan. The Company ati§ @B SFAS 143-1, “Accounting for Electronic Equérh
Waste Obligations”, in the third quarter of fis@8l05 and has determined that its effect did noeteamaterial
impact on its consolidated results of operatiorss famancial position for fiscal 2005 and fiscal B00he Company
is continuing to evaluate the impact of the WEERikktion and similar legislation in other juristioms as
individual countries issue their implementationdgrice.

Employments Agreements

The Company has signed various employment agresmstiit key executives pursuant to which if their
employment is terminated without cause, the emm@syee entitled to receive their base salary (anthtission or
bonus, as applicable) for 52 weeks (for the Chieddttive Officer) and up to 26 weeks (for other kegcutives),
and such employees will continue to have stockoogtivest for up to a one year period following tdrenination. If
the termination, without cause, occurs within oraryof a change in control, the officer is entiledwo years
acceleration of any unvested portion of his ordteck options.
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Leases

The Company leases office space, cars and equippmeet non-cancelable operating leases with various
expiration dates through December 2026. Rent expierthe years ended, December 31, 2004, 2005 @&l \Ras
$1.3 million, $1.5 million, and $2.2 million, resg@vely. The terms of some of the Company’s offieases provide
for rental payments on a graduated scale. The Coym@gognizes rent expense on a straight-line loasisthe
lease period, and has accrued for rent expense@uchut not paid.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancetgd@eating leases are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31

2007 2,371
2008 1,29¢
2009 71¢€
2010 544
2011 50¢
2012 and thereaftt 3,214
Total minimum lease paymer $8,654

Guarantees and Indemnifications

The Company has entered into various inventorytedlpurchase agreements with suppliers. Genetaitjer
these agreements, 50% of orders are cancelablibg gotice 46 to 60 days prior to the expecteipstent date
and 25% of orders are cancelable by giving noticé345 days prior to the expected shipment datdei® are non-
cancelable within 30 days prior to the expectegrslent date. At December 31, 2006, the Company had
$55.2 million in non-cancelable purchase commitmevith suppliers. The Company expects to sell mtipcts for
which it has committed purchases from suppliers.

The Company, as permitted under Delaware law aagdordance with its Bylaws, indemnifies its offeand
directors for certain events or occurrences, stigecertain limits, while the officer or direct@ or was serving at
the Company'’s request in such capacity. The terthefndemnification period is for the officer’s director’s
lifetime. The maximum amount of potential futureémnification is unlimited; however, the Companyg ha
Director and Officer Insurance Policy that limits @xposure and enables it to recover a porti@ngffuture
amounts paid. As a result of its insurance polizyetage, the Company believes the fair value afehe
indemnification agreements is minimal. Accordinglye Company has no liabilities recorded for thegeements
as of December 31, 2006.

In its sales agreements, the Company typicallyemgte indemnify its distributors and resellersdny expense
or liability resulting from claimed infringement$ patents, trademarks or copyrights of third partiehe terms of
these indemnification agreements are generallygbeabany time after execution of the agreemeng. flaximum
amount of potential future indemnification is unied. To date the Company has not paid any amdarssttle
claims or defend lawsuits. As a result, the Comgaalieves the estimated fair value of these agraesis minimal
Accordingly, the Company has no liabilities recatder these agreements as of December 31, 2006.

Note 7 — Stock-Based Compensation:

At December 31, 2006, the Company had five stodeti@mployee compensation plans as described below.
The total compensation expense related to thess plas approximately $4.5 million for the year ehde
December 31, 2006. Prior to January 1, 2006, thegamy accounted for those plans under the recogréind
measurement provisions of APB 25. Accordingly, @@npany generally recognized compensation expense
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only when it granted options with a discounted eiser price. Any resulting compensation expensereeagnized
ratably over the associated service period, whiak generally the option vesting term.

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company providedi@nma disclosure amounts in accordance with
SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compeinsat— Transition and Disclosure” (“SFAS 148"), &she
fair value method defined by SFAS 123 had beenieghpd its stock-based compensation.

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adoptedainealue recognition provisions of SFAS 123R ngsthe
modified prospective transition method and therefoas not restated prior periods’ results. Undsrtthnsition
method, stock-based compensation expense for tdreeyeled December 31, 2006 includes compensatjseneg
for all stock-based compensation awards grantext foj but not yet vested as of, January 1, 2088et on the
grant date fair value estimated in accordance thighoriginal provisions of SFAS 123. Stock-baseghgensation
expense for the year ended December 31, 2006radhales stock-based compensation awards grantd aft
January 1, 2006 based on the grant-date fair \edtimated in accordance with the provisions of SE&3R. The
valuation provisions of SFAS 123R also apply tonggahat are modified after January 1, 2006.

The Company recognizes these compensation costs thet estimated forfeitures on a straight-linsib@ver
the requisite service period of the award, whicgeserally the option vesting term of four yearse Tompany
estimated the forfeiture rate for the year endede@er 31, 2006 based on its historical experience.

As a result of adopting SFAS 123R, the Companyc¢siime before income taxes and net income for the yea
ended December 31, 2006 was $4.0 million and $3lmmlower, respectively, than if the Company hazhtinued
to account for stock-based compensation under ARH Re impact on both basic and diluted earningshpare for
the year ended December 31, 2006 was $0.09. Tiotzk-based compensation cost capitalized in invgni@s less
than $0.1 million for the year ended December 8D62

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Companggméd the excess tax benefit of stock option é&ses@s
operating cash flows. Upon the adoption of SFASRL23s if” windfall tax benefits (the tax deduct®im excess of
the compensation cost that would increase the giosindfall tax benefits) are classified as finargicash flows,
with the remaining excess tax benefit classified@arating cash flows. This requirement will redae¢ operating
cash flows and increase net financing cash flowseitiods after adoption. Prior period cash flowes rawt
reclassified to reflect this new requirement. lditidn, total cash flow is not impacted as a resfithis new
requirement.

60




Table of Contents

NETGEAR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)
The pro forma table below reflects net income aasidand diluted net income per share for the yedsed

December 31, 2004 and 2005, had the Company aphkefir value recognition provisions of SFAS 128,
follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended
December 31,
2004 2005
Net income, as reporte $23,46¢  $33,62:
Add:
Employee stoc-based compensation included in reported net inc 1,68i 1,06/
Less:
Total employee stock-based compensation determinddr fair value method, net of ta
1) (4,329 (9,689
Pro forma net incom $20,82¢  $25,00¢
Basic net income per sha
As reportec $ 077 $ 1.04
Pro forma $ 068 $ 0.77
Diluted net income per shat
As reportec $ 07z $ 0.9¢
Pro forma $ 064 $ 0.74

(1) Of the 1,144,050 options granted during the yededrDecember 31, 2005, 964,100 were sales-resitricte
options that vested immediately on grant. Thesmogthad a fair value of $6.1 million, net of taxi® such
options were granted in 20C

As of December 31, 2006, the Company has the faligwhare-based compensation plans:

2000 Stock Option Plan

In April 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 Stopkidd Plan (the “2000 Plan”). The 2000 Plan prosidfter
the granting of stock options to employees and aitensts of the Company. Options granted under €89 2Plan
may be either incentive stock options or nonqualifstock options. Incentive stock options (“ISO’ayrbe granted
only to Company employees (including officers aim@ators who are also employees). Nonqualifiedkstations
(“NSO") may be granted to Company employees, directorgansultants. 7,350,000 shares of Common Stock
been reserved for issuance under the 2000 Plan.

Options under the 2000 Plan may be granted foogerof up to ten years and at prices no less than t
estimated fair value of the shares on the dateasftgas determined by the Board of Directors, jtedi however,
that (i) the exercise price of an ISO and NSO ghatllbe less than the estimated fair value of tiaees on the date
of grant and (ii) the exercise price of an ISO &I8D granted to a 10% shareholder shall not betless110% of
the estimated fair value of the shares on the afageant. To date, options granted generally vest four years.

2003 Stock Plan

In April 2003, the Company adopted the 2003 Stdek fthe “2003 Plan”). The 2003 Plan provides foz t
granting of stock options to employees and constdtaf the Company. Options granted under the Z088 may b
either incentive stock options or nonqualified &toptions. ISOs may be granted only to Company eygas
(including officers and directors who are also egpks). NSOs may be granted to Company employgestals
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and consultants. The Company has reserved 750H208ssof Common Stock plus any shares which weerved
but not issued under the 2000 Plan as of the date@pproval of the 2003 Plan. The number ofesharhich were
reserved but not issued under the 2000 Plan thet inensferred to the Company’s 2003 Plan were2815 which
when combined with the shares reserved for the @oiyip 2003 Plan total 1,365,290 shares reservedruhd
Company’s 2003 Plan as of the date of transfer. éptions cancelled under either the 2000 Plan®@P®03 Plan
are returned to the pool available for grant. ADetember 31, 2006, 143,209 shares were reservéatfioe grants
under the Company’s 2003 Plan.

Options under the 2003 Plan may be granted fopgerof up to ten years and at prices no less tian t
estimated fair value of the common stock on the dagrant as determined by the closing sales foiceuch stock
as quoted on any established stock exchange diamalmarket system, provided, however, thath@ ¢xercise
price of an ISO and NSO shall not be less tharestienated fair value of the shares on the dateaftgand (i) the
exercise price of an ISO and NSO granted to a It&ebolder shall not be less than 110% of the estidfair
value of the shares on the date of grant. To dattions granted generally vest over four yeard) wie first tranche
vesting at the end of twelve months and the remgishares underlying the option vesting monthlyr dive
remaining three years. In fiscal 2005, certainapgigranted under the 2003 Plan immediately vestddvere
exercisable on the date of grant, and the shamsriying such options were subject to a resaleictisin which
expires at a rate of 25% per year.

2006 Long Term Incentive Plan

In April 2006, the Company adopted the 2006 Longi incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”), which was
approved by the Company'’s stockholders at the Z006ial Meeting of Stockholders on May 23, 2006. 26686
Plan provides for the granting of stock optionscktappreciation rights, restricted stock, perfanoeawards and
other stock awards, to eligible directors, emplayaed consultants of the Company. The Companydsasved
2,500,000 shares of Common Stock for issuance uhdet006 Plan. Any options cancelled under thesZ@an are
returned to the pool available for grant. As of Bmber 31, 2006, 1,458,710 shares were reservddtioe grants
under the 2006 Plan.

Options granted under the 2006 Plan may be eittoentive stock options or nonqualified stock opioisOs
may be granted only to Company employees (includifigers and directors who are also employeesD8s|&ay
be granted to Company employees, directors anduttanss. Options may be granted for periods ofaueh years
and at prices no less than the estimated fair wafittee common stock on the date of grant as déteiirby the
closing sales price for such stock as quoted oreatablished stock exchange or a national marlst¢sy providec
however, that (i) the exercise price of an ISO B&®D shall not be less than the estimated fair vafube shares on
the date of grant and (ii) the exercise price of2@ and NSO granted to a 10% shareholder shabedtess than
110% of the estimated fair value of the sharedherdate of grant. Options granted under the 2086 §&nerally
vest over four years, with the first tranche vegtih the end of twelve months and the remainingeshanderlying
the option vesting monthly over the remaining thyears.

Stock appreciation rights may be granted undeR@® Plan subject to the terms specified by the pla
administrator, provided that the term of any sughtrmay not exceed ten (10) years from the datgrarfit. The
exercise price generally cannot be less than ithenfarket value of the Company’s common stock andhate the
stock appreciation right is granted.

Restricted stock awards may be granted under tB& Ptan subject to the terms specified by the plan
administrator. The period over which any restricaggrd may fully vest is generally no less thae¢h(3) years.
Restricted stock awards are nonvested stock avfaatisnay include grants of restricted stock or tgaf restricted
stock units. Restricted stock awards are indepdrafesption grants and are generally subject téefture if
employment terminates prior to the release of és¢rictions. During that period, ownership of thares cannot be
transferred. Restricted stock has the same voitingsras other common stock and is considered tulyently
issued and outstanding. Restricted stock unitsaddave the voting rights of common stock, andsthares
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underlying the restricted stock units are not abex®d issued and outstanding. The Company expémsesst of
the restricted stock awards, which is determindaktthe fair market value of the shares at the afageant, ratably
over the period during which the restrictions lapse

Performance awards may be in the form of perforraaares or performance units. A performance share
means an award denominated in shares of Companmoorstock and a performance unit means an award
denominated in units having a dollar value or otherency, as determined by the Committee. The plan
administrator will determine the number of perfonmo@ awards that will be granted and will estabish
performance goals and other conditions for payroéstich performance awards. The period of meastiniag
achievement of performance goals will be a minimafrtwelve (12) months.

Other stock-based awards may be granted undeffi&Rlan subject to the terms specified by the plan
administrator. Other stock-based awards may inctlididend equivalents, restricted stock awardsroounts
which are equivalent to all or a portion of anydeal, state, local, domestic or foreign taxes imeggto an award, ar
may be payable in shares, cash, other securitiasyoother form of property as the plan administratay
determine.

In the event of a change in control of the Compafiygwards under the 2006 Plan vest in full ahd al
outstanding performance shares and performance wilitbe paid out upon transfer.

2006 Stand-Alone Stock Option Agreement

In August 2006, the Company reserved for and gcbat@00,000 share nonqualified stock option in egtion
with the hiring of a key executive. In the eventafhange in control of the Company, this optiostsén full.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company sponsors an Employee Stock PurchasdtR&a“ESPP”), pursuant to which eligible emplayee
may contribute up to 10% of compensation, subpecettain income limits, to purchase shares oftbmpany’s
common stock. Prior to January 1, 2006, employese able to purchase stock semi-annually at a pgeoal to
85% of the fair market value at certain plan-defidates. As of January 1, 2006, the Company chatigeHSPP
such that employees will purchase stock semi-ahnagh price equal to 85% of the fair market vabmethe
purchase date. Since the price of the shares isdetevmined at the purchase date and there isngeia lookback
period, the Company recognizes the expense baste: db% discount at purchase. For the year ended
December 31, 2006, ESPP compensation expense WaOHP.

The fair value of each option award is estimatedhendate of grant using the Black-Scholes-Mertgiion
valuation model and the weighted average assunpiiothe following table. The expected term of op$ granted
is derived from historical data on employee exeraisd post-vesting employment termination behavibe. risk
free interest rate is based on the implied yieldently available on U.S. Treasury securities veithequivalent
remaining term. Expected volatility is based orombination of the historical volatility of the Compy’s stock as
well as the historical volatility of certain of tli@ompany’s industry peers’ stock.

Stock Options

Year Ended ESPP

December 31, Year Ended December 31

2004 2005 2006 2004 2005

Expected life (in years 4.0 4.C 4.¢ 0.5 0.t
Risk-free interest rat 2.81% 3.8:% 4.7% 1.3% 2.9%
Expected volatility 52% 56% 59% 52% 55%
Dividend yield — — — — —
Weighted average fair value of gra $5.47 $8.01 $12.0t $ 4.11 $ 5.21
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Activity under the Company’s Stock Option Plansés forth as follows:

December 31, 2004 December 31, 2005

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Exercise Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price

Options outstanding at beginning of y 6,561,690 $ 5.3¢ 4,147,080 $ 7.0C
Options grante: 614,60: 13.6( 1,147,05! 17.2%
Options exercise (2,796,42) 4.64 (1,378,37) 5.717
Options cancelle (232,779 7.41 (242,079 9.41
Outstanding at end of ye 4,147,08 7.0C 3,673,68 10.4¢
Options exercisable at end of y« 2,644,06, 5.2¢ 2,959,25! 9.82

Options outstanding under the stock option plansf @ecember 31, 2005 and changes during the yehade
December 31, 2006 were as follows:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Term (In Years) Value
(In thousands’
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 3,673,68 $ 10.4¢
Options grante: 1,326,491 22.0¢
Options exercise (932,929 7.91
Options cancelle (132,79) 16.6(
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 3,934,45  $ 14.7¢ 7.1 $  45,14¢
Options exercisable and expected to vest at Deaegihe
2006 3,843,64. $ 14.6¢ 7.0¢ $  44,65(
Options exercisable at December 31, 2 2,386,720 $ 10.8¢ 572 $ 36,73

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table abopeasents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (théetdénce between the
Company’s closing stock price on the last tradiag df fiscal 2006 and the exercise price, multghly the number of
shares underlying the in-the-money options) thaildbave been received by the option holders Haaptibn holders
exercised their options on December 31, 2006. almsunt changes based on the fair market valueea€timpany’s stock.
Total intrinsic value of options exercised for gfear ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 wa8 B8ilion,
$18.7 million, and $15.1 million, respectively. &bfair value of options expensed for the year eridecember 31, 2006
was $3.2 million, net of tax.

The total fair value of options vested during tleans ended December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006 wasfilion,
$1.1 million, and $2.8 million, respectively.
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Additional information regarding stock options datsding under the Company’s Stock Option Plansas o
December 31, 2006 is as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
Number Contractual Life Exercise Number Exercise

Range of Exercise Price Outstanding (In Years) Price Outstanding Price
$1.29-$2.99 81,88¢ 2€ $ 1.2¢ 81,88¢ $ 1.2¢
$3.00- $5.99 830,13¢ 34 $ 45:¢ 830,13¢ $ 4.5
$6.00- $ 8.99 205,49! 48 $ 7.54 202,52: $ 7.5¢
$9.00- $11.99 183,53¢ 7.C $ 10.1Z 121,15¢ $ 10.3¢
$12.00- $14.99 253,81. 7.2  $ 13.8¢ 187,127 $ 13.8(
$15.00- $17.99 658,92¢ 74 $ 15.6¢ 564,41 $ 15.5i
$18.00- $20.99 954,15¢ 9.1 $ 19.4% 335,51¢ $ 19.51
$21.00- $23.99 430,01: 9.2 $ 224« 63,96: $ 21.2%
$24.00- $26.39 336,49( 10.C  $ 26.3¢ 0 N/A
$ 1.29- $26.39 3,934,45 71 $14.7¢ 2,386,721 $ 10.8¢

As of December 31, 2006, $15.1 million of total eewgnized compensation cost related to stock opfon
expected to be recognized over a weighted-averagedoof 1.72 years.

Cash received from option exercises and purchas#dsrthe ESPP for the year ended December 31,\2866
$8.5 million. The actual excess tax benefit recpgdifor the tax deduction arising from the exeroisstock-based
compensation awards for the year ended Decemb@0B8, totaled $4.2 million.

Nonvested restricted stock awards as of Decemhe2@6 and changes during the year ended Deceniber 3
2006 were as follows:

Weighted

Average
Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Nonvested outstanding at December 31, 2 — 9 =
Granted 114,00( 22.52
Vested — —
Forfeited — —
Nonvested outstanding at December 31, 2 114,000 $ 22.5Z

As of December 31, 2006, $1.9 million of total wwgnized compensation cost related to nonvestédctes
stock awards is expected to be recognized overightesl-average period of 1.59 years.

Note 8 — Segment Information, Operations by Geogragc Area and Customer Concentration:

Operating segments are components of an entegly@é which separate financial information is aafalié and
is regularly evaluated by management, namely thef operating decision maker of an organizatiorgrider to
make operating and resource allocation decisionshB definition, the Company operates in one hes$ segment,
which comprises the development, marketing andafatetworking products for the small business hoohe
markets. The Company’s primary headquarters amghéfisant portion of its operations are locatedtie United
States. The Company also conducts sales, marketistpmer service activities and certain distrituti
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center activities through several small sales effim Europe, Middle-East and Africa (EMEA) anda\as well as
outsourced distribution centers.

For reporting purposes revenue is attributed th g@ography based on the geographic location of the
customer. Net revenue by geography comprises gesssue less such items as sales incentives detenbech
reduction of net revenue per EITF Issue No. Olafssreturns and price protection, which reducegrevenue.

Geographic information
Net revenue by geographic location is as followsliousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006

United State: $186,83t  $199,20¢ $220,44(
United Kingdom 60,58t 76,45¢ 151,02¢
Germany 51,30« 52,86¢ 55,10«
EMEA (excluding UK and German' 47,72¢ 70,62¢ 92,10
Asia Pacific and rest of the wor 36,68¢ 50,45 54,89¢

$383,13¢  $449,61( $573,57(

Long-lived assets, comprising fixed assets, arerted based on the location of the asset. LongHagsets by
geographic location are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2005 2006
United State: $4,37¢  $4,87¢
EMEA 42 59z
Asia Pacific and rest of the wor 282 1,09¢

$4,70.  $6,56¢

Customer concentration (as a percentage of nehveye

Year Ended
December 31
2004 2005 2006

Ingram Micro, Inc. 27% 25% 1%
Tech Data Corporatio 18% 17% 16%

Note 9 — Employee Benefit Plan:

In April 2000, the Company adopted the NETGEAR 4)Hlan to which employees may contribute up to
100% of salary subject to the legal maximum. Then@any contributes an amount equal to 50% of thel@yep
contributions up to a maximum of $1,500 per calerydar per employee. The Company contributed apérsed
$279,000, $361,000 and $473,000 related to the NEAIR5401(k) Plan in the years ended December 314,200
2005 and 2006, respectively.
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(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(unaudited)

The following table presents unaudited quarteraficial information for each of the Company’s kight
quarters. This information has been derived froemmGompany’s unaudited financial statements andhbasn
prepared on the same basis as the audited Cortsdlimnancial Statements appearing elsewheresn thi
Form 10-K. In the opinion of management, all neagsadjustments, consisting only of normal recyrin
adjustments, have been included to state fairlygtieterly results.

April 2, 2006 July 2, 200¢ October 1, 200¢ December 31, 200

Net revenue $ 127,25¢ $130,73¢ $ 151,57 $ 164,00:
Gross profit $ 44548 $ 45377 $ 50,55¢ $ 53,17¢
Provision for income taxe $ 671« $ 641 $ 7,080 $ 7,66(
Net income $ 9866 $ 983 $ 798 % 13,44¢
Net income per sha— basic $ 03C $ 03C $ 024 % 0.4C
Net income per sha— diluted $ 02¢ $ 02¢ % 0.2: $ 0.3¢

April 3, 2005 July 3, 200¢ October 2, 200t December 31, 200

Net revenue $ 108,95 $10757¢ $ 111317 $ 121,76!
Gross profit $ 3588 $ 38601 $ 39,09¢ % 38,11¢
Provision for income taxe $ 5068 $ 494 % 549: $ 5,36:
Net income $ 786 $ 8301 $ 8,59/ $ 8,86¢
Net income per sha— basic $ 028 $ 026 $ 026 $ 0.27
Net income per sha— diluted $ 024 $ 022 % 028 % 0.2¢€

67




Table of Contents

Iltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants orcéanting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedureé®ur management evaluated, with the participatioour
chief executive officer and our chief accountinfjoefr, the effectiveness of our disclosure contesid procedures,
as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) utdeSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as of the énldeoperiod
covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Basedhis evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief
accounting officer have concluded that our disaleswontrols and procedures are effective to enthatanformatiol
we are required to disclose in reports that wedilsubmit under the Securities Exchange Act 04193 amended,
is recorded, processed, summarized and reportdéihwvifite time periods specified in Securities andhzxge
Commission rules and forms, and that such inforomai accumulated and communicated to managenmahiding
the chief executive officer and chief accountinficefr, as appropriate to allow timely decisionsameting required
disclosures.

Design and evaluation of internal control over fitéal reporting. Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, we have included a report of ageament’s assessment of the design and effectivefiesir
internal controls as part of this Annual Reportrammm 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30620
Management’s report is included with our ConsokdaEinancial Statements under Part Il, Iltem 8 isf th

Changes in internal control over financial repogin There was no change in our internal control dwvemcia
reporting that occurred during the most recentfigiarter that has materially affected, or is oeably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over finaalareporting. We are aware that any system ofrotsithowever
well designed and operated, can only provide residenand not absolute, assurance that the obgsotithe
system are met, and that maintenance of disclafmeols and procedures is an ongoing processrthgtchange
over time.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART IlI

Certain information required by Part Ill is incorpted herein by reference from our Proxy Statemslated to
our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which wiend to file no later than 120 days after the efitthe fiscal
year covered by this repo

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govente

The information required by this Item concerning duectors and executive officers is incorporatgd
reference to the sections of our Proxy Statemeti¢uthe headings “Election of Directors,” “Boardda@@ommittees
Meetings,” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial OwnersRigporting Compliance dnd to the information contained in
section captioned “Executive Officers of the Ragist’ included under Part |, Iltem 1 of this report.

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that appliesitaluaf executive officer and senior financial offis, as
required by the SEC. The current version of oureCafdEthics can be found on our Internet site at
http://www.netgear.com. Additional information réiqd by this Item regarding our Code of Ethicsnisarporated
by reference to the information contained in thetisa captioned “Code of Ethics” in our Proxy Statmnt.

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirementenritdm 10 of Form 8-K regarding an amendmentto, o
waiver from, a provision of this code of ethicsgmysting such information on our website at the aslispecified
above.
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Item 11. Executive Compensatio

The information required by this Item is incorp@aby reference to the sections of our Proxy Stat¢mnder
the headings “Compensation Discussion and Analy'ixecutive Compensation,” “Compensation Committee
Interlocks and Insider Participation,” and “Compaticn Committee Report.”

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners anbnagement and Related Stockholder Matt

The information required by this Item is incorp@aby reference to the information contained insbetion
captioned “Security Ownership of Certain Benefi€alners and Management” in our Proxy Statement. The
information required by this Item regarding Equitympensation Plan information is included in Padtém 5 of
this report.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abitector Independence

The information required by this Item is incorp@by reference to the information contained ingbetion
captioned “Election of Directors” in our Proxy S#atent.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Servici

The information required by this Item related taliadees and services is incorporated by refer¢émthe
information appearing in our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedu

(a) The following documents are filed as part of tlapart:

(1) Financial Statements.

Page
Managemer's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Repaor 39
Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing 40
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&00200¢ 42
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the theees ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 43
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity for the three years ended December 31, 22035 and 200 44
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the tyeaes ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 45
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 46
Quarterly Financial Data (unaudite 67

(2) Financial Statement Schedule.

The following financial statement schedule of NETAFE Inc. for the fiscal years ended December 3042@005 and
2006 is filed as part of this Form 10-K and shduédread in conjunction with the Consolidated Finangtatements of
NETGEAR, Inc.
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Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Balance at Balance at
Beginning of Year  Additions Deductions End of Year
(In thousands)
Allowance for doubtful account
Year ended December 31, 2C 1,322 371 (184) 1,50¢
Year ended December 31, 2C 1,50¢ (4) (210) 1,29t
Year ended December 31, 2C 1,29¢ 64¢ (21€) 1,72
Allowance for sales returns and product warra
Year ended December 31, 2C 16,80« 30,86: (30,499 17,17:
Year ended December 31, 2C 17,17: 37,53: (36,87¢) 17,83(
Year ended December 31, 2C 17,83( 61,55¢ (49,960 29,42¢
Allowance for price protectior
Year ended December 31, 2C 2,607 14,93¢ (12,897 4,64¢
Year ended December 31, 2C 4,64¢ 11,82¢ (15,029 1,45¢€
Year ended December 31, 2C 1,45¢ 9,517 (7,779 3,194

(3) Exhibits. The exhibits listed in the accompanying Indeghibits are filed or incorporated by

reference as part of this report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regigthas duly
caused this Annual Report to be signed on its hélyahe undersigned, thereunto duly authorizedheCity of
Santa Clara, State of California, on the 1st daylafch 2007.

NETGEAR, INC .
Registrant

/sl PATRICK C.S. LO

Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signature appears below constitutes and
appoints Patrick C.S. Lo and Christine M. Gorjaarag each of them, his attorneys-in-fact, each thighpower of
substitution, for him in any and all capacitiessign any and all amendments to this Report on Hdl+K and to file the
same, with exhibits thereto and other document®immection therewith, with the Securities and ExggaCommission,
hereby ratifying and confirming all that each ofdsattorneys-in-fact, or his substitute or substis,i may do or cause to be
done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in theaipa and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date
/sl PATRICK C.S. LO Chairman of the Board and March 1, 2007
Patrick C.S. Lo Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer
/sl CHRISTINE M. GORJANC Chief Accounting Officer March 1, 2007
Christine M. Gorjanc (Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer

/s/ RALPH E. FAISON Director March 1, 2007
Ralph E. Faisol
/sl A. TIMOTHY GODWIN Director March 1, 2007

A. Timothy Godwin

/s/ JEF GRAHAM Director March 1, 2007
Jef Grahan
/sl LINWOOD A. LACY, JR. Director March 1, 2007

Linwood A. Lacy, Jr

/s/ GEORGE G. C. PARKER Director March 1, 2007
George G. C. Parki

/sl GREGORY J. ROSSMANN Director March 1, 2007
Gregory J. Rossmar
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Exhibit
Number
3.3
35
4.1
10.1
10.2
10.3
104
10.5
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13

10.13.1
10.14*

10.15*
10.24*
10.25*
10.26*

10.30
1031

10.32

10.33
10.34

10.35

10.36
10.38
10.39
10.40
21.1
231

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothe registrant(1

Bylaws of the registrant(l

Form of registrars common stock certificate(

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors afticers(1)

2000 Stock Option Plan and forms of agreementgtimeter(1’

2003 Stock Plan and forms of agreements thereubx

2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plai

Employment Agreement, dated December 3, 1999, leetilee registrant and Patrick C.S. Lc
Employment Agreement, dated August 10, 2001, betwee registrant and Jonathan R. Mathe
Employment Agreement, dated December 9, 1999, leetiee registrant and Mark G. Merrill(
Employment Agreement, dated November 4, 2002, battiee registrant and Michael F. Falcor
Employment Agreement, dated January 6, 2003, bettreeregistrant and Charles T. Olsor
Employment Agreement, dated October 18, 2004, leiwiee registrant and Albert Y. Liu(
Employment Agreement, dated November 16, 2005, datvthe registrant and Christine M. Gorjant
Standard Office Lease, dated December 3, 2001 dagtthe registrant and Dell Associates II-A, and
First Amendment to Standard Office Lease, datedcMad, 2002(1

Second Amendment to Lease, dated June 30, 2004edethe registrant and Dell Associate-A(4)
Distributor Agreement, dated March 1, 1997, betwtbenregistrant and Tech Data Product Manager
Inc.(1)

Distributor Agreement, dated March 1, 1996, betwtbenregistrant and Ingram Micro Inc., as amended
by Amendment dated October 1, 1996 and Amendmeng2iated July 15, 1998(

Warehousing Agreement, dated July 5, 2001, betwlemnegistrant and APL, Logistics Americas, Ltd.
(1)

Distribution Operation Agreement, dated April 2002, between the registrant and Furness Logistics
BV(1)

Distribution Operation Agreement, dated Decemb&0D/, between the registrant and Kerry Logistics
(Hong Kong) Limited(1]

Employment Agreement, dated November 3, 2003, baiviee registrant and Michael Werdanr
Severance Agreement and Release, effective as\admloer 12, 2004, between the registrant and
Christopher Marshall(€

Settlement Agreement and Release for ZilbermanBA GEAR, Civil Action CV021230, effective as of
November 22, 2005(:

2006 Long Term Incentive Plan and forms of agream#rereunder(€

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July2@66, by and among NETGEAR, Inc., SKIM
Holdings Corporation, SkipJam Corp., Michael Spilonathan Daub, Francis Refol, Dennis Aldover
Zhicheng Qiu(9

Separation Agreement and Release, dated as of Zr006, by and between NETGEAR, Inc. and
Jonathan R. Mather(1!

Employment Agreement, dated September 5, 2006 deetihe registrant and Deborah A. Williams(
Relocation Agreement, dated September 5, 2006 degtthe registrant and Deborah A. Williams(
Employment Agreement, dated September 7, 2006 datithe registrant and Thomas Holt(
Relocation Agreement, dated September 7, 2006 degtthe registrant and Thomas Holt(

List of subsidiarie!

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, IndeperiRiegistered Public Accounting Fir
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Exhibit
Number Description
311 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ecurities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(c) and
15c¢-15(e),as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sar-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Certification of Chief Accounting Officer pursuatot Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(c) and
15c¢-15(e),as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sar-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2 Certification of Chief Accounting Officer pursuait18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002

* Confidential treatment has been granted as toingrtations of this Exhibit

(1) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit bearirgshme number filed with the Registrant’s Regigtnat
Statement on Form S-1 (Registration Statement 88i8k19),which the Securities and Exchange Commis
declared effective on July 30, 20(

(2) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of thgR&ant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on
November 17, 2004 with the Securities and Exch&@wmamission

(3) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 of thregRtrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
November 22, 2005 with the Securities and Exch&@wmamission

(4) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of thgRBeant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on
November 17, 2004 with the Securities and Exch&wgamission

(5) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of thegRtrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on a5,
2004 with the Securities and Exchange Commis:

(6) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of thgR&ant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on
November 17, 2004 with the Securities and Exch&@wmamission

(7) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 of thegiRtrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
November 25, 2005 with the Securities and Exch&@wmamission

(8) Incorporated by reference to the copy included@Registrant’s Proxy Statement for the 2006 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders filed on April 21, 2006 Wwihe Securities and Exchange Commiss

(9) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Regnt's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Jai,
2006 with the Securities and Exchange Commis:

(10) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of thgiReant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on A26,
2006 with the Securities and Exchange Commis:

(11) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of therpany’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
September 11, 2006 with the Securities and Exch@agemission

(12) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of therpany’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
September 11, 2006 with the Securities and Exch@agemission

(13) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 of ther(pany’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
September 11, 2006 with the Securities and Exch@uogemission

(14) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.4 of ther(pany’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
September 11, 2006 with the Securities and Exch@uogemission
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Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Entity Name Jurisdiction

Netgear International, In Delaware

SkipJam Corp Delaware






Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N8-B37718, 333-136892, 333-136895)
of NETGEAR, Inc. of our report dated March 1, 2@8lating to the financial statements, financiatestaent schedule, management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting and the effectivenestdrnal control over financial reporting of
NETGEAR, Inc., which appears in NETGEAR, I's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year endedémber 31, 2006.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
March 1, 2007







EXHIBIT 31.1

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Patrick C.S. Lo, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of NETGEAR, Inc. (the"Registrar”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material facioit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statémand other financial information included instiheéport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andifie periods presented in this rep

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officerés)d | are responsible for establishing and maiirigidisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 1580 and internal control over financial reportifag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and han

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proesdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatmeg to the Registrant, including its consolidhgribsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

b. Designed such internal control over finagaieporting, or caused such internal control oirarfcial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataece with generally accepted accounting princij

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registatisclosure controls and procedures and presentbis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; ant

d. Disclosed in this report any change in tlegiRrant’s internal control over financial repogdithat occurred during the Registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fofigbal quarter in the case of an annual repost) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Regist’s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officerés)d | have disclosed, based on our most recehiaian of internal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and thetazaimmittee of the Registrant’s board of direct@@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

a. All significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internarabaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regigd’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, thatahwes management or other employees who have Hiség role in the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 1, 2007

/s/ PATRICK C.S. LO
Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.







EXHIBIT 31.2

CHIEF ACCOUNTING OFFICER CERTIFICATION

[, Christine M. Gorjanc, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of NETGEAR, Inc. (the"Registrar”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material facioit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statémand other financial information included instiheéport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andifie periods presented in this rep

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officerés)d | are responsible for establishing and maiirigidisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 1580 and internal control over financial reportifag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and han

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proesdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatmeg to the Registrant, including its consolidhgribsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

b. Designed such internal control over finagaieporting, or caused such internal control oirarfcial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataece with generally accepted accounting princij

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registatisclosure controls and procedures and presentbis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; ant

d. Disclosed in this report any change in tlegiRrant’s internal control over financial repogdithat occurred during the Registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fofigbal quarter in the case of an annual repost) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Regist’s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officerés)d | have disclosed, based on our most recehiaian of internal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and thetazaimmittee of the Registrant’s board of direct@@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

a. All significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internarabaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regigd’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, thatahwes management or other employees who have Hiség role in the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 1, 2007

By: /s/ CHRISTINE M. GORJANC
Christine M. Gorjanc
Chief Accounting Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.







EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEYACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of NETGEANc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2006, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the “Report”), |, Patrick C.S. Lo, €hean and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secti®®0, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of tHeaBas-Oxley Act of 2002
(“Section 906"), that:

(1) The Report fully complies with thejrerements of section 13(a) of the Securities ErgleaAct of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and

(2) The information contained in the Refairly presents, in all material respects, timamcial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

Date: March 1, 2007

By: /s/ PATRICK C.S. LO
Patrick C.S. Lc
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Compady
will be retained by the Company and furnished s $lecurities and Exchange Commission or its spaffiuequest.

This certification accompanies the Form 10-K toebhit relates, is not deemed filed with the Semgiand Exchange Commission and is not
to be incorporated by reference into any filinglod Company under the Securities Act of 1933 oSéaurities Exchange Act of 1934
(whether made before or after the date of this F&f¥K), irrespective of any general incorporati@nfjuage contained in such filing.






EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF ACCOUNTING OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEYACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of NETGEANc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2006, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), |, Christine M. Gorja@hief Accounting Officer of the

Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section0] 2% adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mley Act of 2002 (“Section 906"),
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with thejrerements of section 13(a) of the Securities ErgeaAct of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and

(2) The information contained in the Refairly presents, in all material respects, timamcial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

Date: March 1, 2007

By: /s/ CHRISTINE M. GORJANC
Christine M. Gorjanc
Chief Accounting Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company
will be retained by the Company and furnished s $ecurities and Exchange Commission or its spaffiuequest.

This certification accompanies the Form 10-K toebhit relates, is not deemed filed with the Semgiand Exchange Commission and is not
to be incorporated by reference into any filingled Company under the Securities Act of 1933 oSéaurities Exchange Act of 1934
(whether made before or after the date of this F&f¥K), irrespective of any general incorporati@nfjuage contained in such filing.



